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Wednesday, October 30, 2024
--- On commencing at 9:58 a.m.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is James Sidlofsky, and I am counsel with the Ontario Energy Board in today's proceeding.  We are here today for a virtual technical conference on the Enbridge Gas Inc. application for an order granting leave to construct approximately 17.6 kilometres of natural gas pipeline and associated facilities along St. Laurent Boulevard, Sandridge Road, and Tremblay Road in the City of Ottawa.

In Procedural Order No. 2, the OEB determined that it would convene a transcribed technical conference for parties to ask clarification questions related to interrogatory responses filed by Enbridge Gas.  

In Procedural Order No. 3 issued yesterday, the OEB directed Enbridge to produce representatives of Posterity Group and Integral Engineering to allow for Environmental Defence, other intervenors, and OEB Staff to ask clarification questions related to interrogatory responses filed by Enbridge Gas that pertain to the work of Posterity and Integral on a date to be agreed upon by the parties, and, in the absence of an agreement by this Friday, the OEB will fix the date.

I will say more about today's session in a moment, but I would like to begin with a land acknowledgement from our hearings advisor, Antonio Johnson.
Land Acknowledgement


MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you.  Good morning, everyone.  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat Peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis Peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.  We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.

Thank you.
Preliminary Matters


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  I will remind parties that technical conferences do not take place in front of the Panel of Board Members who are hearing the case, but they are transcribed, and the transcript forms part of the record in this proceeding.  This section is also being broadcast and will be on the air throughout the conference, except for breaks and those times, if any, where material that is being treated as confidential is being discussed.  I will have more to say about that a bit later in my comments.

As a general matter, I will remind parties that intervenor representatives seeking access to confidential material are required to execute the Board's form of confidentiality undertaking in accordance with the Board's practice direction on confidential filings.

So far in this proceeding, Enbridge has requested confidential treatment of certain items delivered in response to interrogatories, and the OEB has confirmed that the material will be kept in confidence.

At this time, only the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario has indicated that it intends to ask questions about the confidential material, and we have allocated time this afternoon for those questions.  If anyone else plans to ask questions on confidential material, please let me know and we can deal with those questions during the closed session this afternoon.

When we close the proceeding to deal with confidential material, we will be moving to a breakout room.  Attendance will be restricted to those who have signed the OEB's declaration of undertaking related to confidentiality, and, if Enbridge proposes that certain individuals not have access to the in-camera session, we can hear from the parties at that time.

A redacted version of the transcript will be placed on the public record.

The other procedural matters I would like to remind parties of is that this is a technical conference; it is not intended to be cross-examination on the evidence but, rather, as the OEB stated in Procedural Order No. 2 and reiterated yesterday in Procedural Order No. 3, the technical conference is being held to allow for clarification questions to interrogatory responses.

Our hearing advisor, Antonio Johnson, circulated the schedule for today's session of the technical conference after parties and OEB Staff provided time estimates.  There is one adjustment to that schedule.  School Energy Coalition will be asking questions tomorrow instead of today.  As Mr. Johnson noted in his message that circulated the schedule, Environmental Defence's time has been reduced from an estimated 180 minutes to 90 minutes, based on the panel's comments in procedural order 3 and on Environmental Defence's comments in its October 16th letter that the greatest amount of its estimated 180 minutes of questions will likely be needed to explore the Posterity Group and its Integral Engineering models.

As you know from Procedural Order No. 3, the OEB has directed Enbridge to produce representatives of Posterity Group and Integral Engineering to allow for Environmental Defence, other intervenors, and OEB Staff to ask clarification questions related to interrogatory responses filed by Enbridge Gas, that pertain to the work of Posterity and Integral on a date to be agreed upon by the parties.

The OEB is allowing up to one half day for that session, and that half day is not in addition to the two days set aside for this technical conference this week; it is a reallocation of time from these two days.  If any other intervenor plans to question the panel that includes Posterity and Integral representatives, we will need a time estimate, and the time allocated to your questions this week will be reduced accordingly.  I would ask you to make your best efforts to keep to your estimated times and to consider whether it is possible to shorten those times where someone else may have covered areas in which you had similar questions.

We are planning a 15-minute break in the morning, at around 11:00 -- but that may change due to our slightly later start this morning -- a one-hour lunch break at around 12:40, and an afternoon break at roughly 3:15, but, as always, we are going to see how the day goes and deal with fitting in breaks through the course of the day.

Finally, before we go into appearances, just a few reminders about technical matters because this is a virtual setting.

First, I would ask intervenors who are not asking questions to mute their audio and turn off their cameras when witnesses are being questioned by someone else.

Second, while there is a chat function available in the Zoom platform, nothing in the chat platform will be recorded or appear on the transcript, so you can send messages to each other or to the group, but they will not be transcribed.

Third -- and I believe people may have done this already -- we ask that everyone ensure that the name that they have associated with their picture right now in Zoom is their full name and party so that the court reporter can accurately report what is said.

Finally, for this virtual session, we ask that you repeat your name and whom you represent.  That will assist the court reporter in transcribing this matter.  It is particularly important if you are stepping in to ask a follow-up question.
Appearances


On that note, I will introduce the members of OEB Staff who are here with me this morning.  I will then move on to appearances.  With me are Zora Crnojacki, senior advisor for natural gas applications and case manager for this application; Michael Parkes, senior advisor in application policy and conservation; Natalya Plummer, advisor for natural gas applications; and Antonio Johnson, hearings advisor.

I am now going to take appearances.  I will follow the order in the schedule, so we will start with Environmental Defence.

MR. ELSON:  Good morning.  Kent Elson for Environmental Defence.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  FRPO?

MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning.  Thank you.  Energy Probe?

MR. LADANYI:  Good morning.  My name is Tom Ladanyi.  I am a consultant representing Energy Probe.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Mr. Ladanyi.  School Energy Coalition, I believe Mr. Rubenstein has had to leave this morning, but I am putting in an appearance on his behalf:  Mark Rubenstein for the School Energy Coalition.  Followed by CAFES Ottawa.

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning.  My name is Michael Brophy, and I will be asking questions on behalf of CAFES Ottawa and a second organization, Pollution Probe.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  I believe that is it with the exception of Enbridge.  Just before I get to the Enbridge appearances, are there any parties, any other parties, in attendance who are not planning to ask questions?  If you could identify yourself and put in an appearance, that would be appreciated.

MR. BISHOP:  Good morning.  It is Andrew Bishop, representing the IESO, here attending as an observer.  I don't intend to ask any questions today.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Bishop, good to see you again and good morning.

MR. BISHOP:  You, too.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, I will move on to Enbridge.  I believe, Mr. Sternberg, you will be introducing the panel and yourself.  I also understand you have a preliminary matter, as well.

MR. STERNBERG:  Yes.  Thanks, Mr. Sidlofsky.  So it is Arlen Sternberg, counsel to Enbridge.  I am here with my colleague, Charles Keizer, counsel to Enbridge, as well.  We will both be participating at different point during the technical conference.  I will ask the panel in a moment to introduce themselves, providing their name and title.  Just before I do that, when I make the introductory comment on the record that we discussed off the record which relates to Procedural Order 3.  

So, further to that procedural order which was dated yesterday, and in response to a question Mr. Elson asked in a follow-up e-mail yesterday, I can confirm that the plan is to produce to the Posterity and Integral witness as their own subsequent panel, and as we indicated, we are still sorting out the scheduling of that.  So, if Environmental Defence or other intervenors have questions for Enbridge witnesses that relate to Enbridge's engagement of Posterity and Integral for their studies, including any clarifying questions on the associated interrogatories that Enbridge answered, those questions should be asked today and tomorrow.

At the subsequent half-day session that is scheduled with the Integral and Posterity witnesses that session will be just to address questions that are truly for Posterity and Integral regarding their models and the work that they did in respect of their reports.  As I said, the plan is not to produce the Enbridge witnesses a second time.  

The last thing I just say on that in response to something Mr. Rubenstein raised.  If anyone has questions where you are not sure whether they are properly questions for the Enbridge witnesses, or for Posterity or Integral, I would suggest you may want to ask those questions today and tomorrow.  If the Enbridge witnesses are able to answer them they will; if they aren't, they are questions that would need to be answered by Posterity or Integral, they can indicate that.

MR. ELSON:  If I could ask a question for clarification, Mr. Sternberg.  If we get it wrong and we ask the question to Integral or Posterity that should have gone to Enbridge, assuming Enbridge believes it is a relevant question, would you be providing answers to those by way of undertaking?

MR. STERNBERG:  Yes, I mean the preference obviously and from an efficiency point of you is for you to ask those questions today and tomorrow so the Enbridge witnesses can respond.  If, you know, for some question a question like that is missed or there is a question you think it is for Posterity or Integral and you ask it of them and they do happen to indicate it would need to be Enbridge, then we can deal with that as it comes and I expect we would then, in that scenario, deal with it by undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Are there any other preliminary matters before we move on to Environmental Defence?

MR. STERNBERG:  I will, if you want Mr. Sidlofsky, I can ask the panel to introduce themselves --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.

MR. STERNBERG:  -- first before questioning.  So, I will turn it over to the panel, ask them each to advise of their -- indicate their name and title, please.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari, technical manager, integrity, and risk.


MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, director, integrity and risk, Enbridge Gas.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, technical manager, integrity, regulatory strategy.

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, director of engineering.

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black, manager external communications.

MS. MURPHY:  Jennifer Murphy, manager of energy transition planning.

MR. WOOD:  Cody Wood, supervisor energy transition  planning.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Sternberg, is that your entire panel?

MR. STERNBERG:  Yes.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 1

Mohamed Chebaro 

Miaad Safari 

Bradley Clark 

Aron Murdoch 

Jennifer Murphy 

Cody Wood 

Kendra Black


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  In the absence of any other preliminary matters.  Mr. Elson, if you would like to go ahead.
Examination by Mr. Elson


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  For the sake of the reporter, again, it is Kent Elson, I am representing Environmental Defence.  Good morning everybody.

I would like to start with some questions that are further to Environmental Defence 6, but actually what you should turn up, please is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 17 because that is what we will refer to.  And I will have a fair bit of questions, the bulk of my questions will relate to this interrogatory response.  And so, if that could be pulled up on the screen that would be great.  

I understand this interrogatory provided details of the cost assessments of the various alternatives.  If we could turn to attachment 4.  Thank you.  And down to page 2 of attachment 4.  


And so just to situate the record, if the panel could confirm that what we are looking at here is a breakdown of how Enbridge estimated the costs of the repair option; have I got that right?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And, Mr. Safari, would you be the panel member most particular with this work and this spreadsheet here?

MR. SAFARI:  Yes, that would be me.

MR. ELSON:  Great.  And so, I see here in the bottom line of the section entitled "Scenario Details" that integrity did costs were increased at an escalation rate of 6 percent based on cost trending over the previous 10 years; have I got that right?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And 6 percent is greater than the discount rate.  And so, what that would mean is that as you defer costs into the future they actually result in higher costs in the present because your cost escalation is greater than your discount rate; is that fair to say?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes that is fair.

MR. ELSON:  And usually we think of a deferral of a capital project as positive thing because it reduces costs, but in this analysis a deferral of a capital project is a negative thing because it increases cost on a net present value basis; right?

MR. SAFARI:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  And so, in the scenario details here it says the 6 percent is based on cost trending over the past 10 years.  What exactly does that mean in terms of cost trending?  Did you do an analysis of certain capital costs over the past 10 years.  Can you elaborate on that a little bit?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, I can.  In this case we are referring to integrity digs.  Enbridge has quite a bit of experience performing integrity digs for the last 10 years so we looked at actual costs that have been incurred across our system to perform integrity digs and looked at the trend, in terms of the average costs over that time span, and we found that there was generally an escalation of between 8 to 10 percent per year in those costs.  In this case, a conservative value of 6 percent was assumed in the NPV assessment.

MR. ELSON:  When you say average cost, is that cost per dig?  Because I assume that some digs are more expensive than others.  I am trying to understand what you are averaging it over.

MR. SAFARI:  Exactly.  So, we would have -- digs can vary depending on the difficult of the excavation and location.  But on the aggregate, if we average it based on all the digs that were in our sample, we are able to establish the trend.

MR. ELSON:  So, you have a large spreadsheet, you have a list of all the digs, and you are able to calculate an average; is that roughly accurate?

MR. SAFARI:  That is roughly accurate.  We have a spreadsheet and it was used to trend the escalation per year.  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Could you undertake to provide a copy of that spreadsheet?

MR. SAFARI:  Yes.

MR. STERNBERG:  Thank you.  Mr. Elson --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that undertaking JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING JT1.1:  TO FILE A SPREADSHEET USED TO TREND THE ESCALATION PER YEAR (SUBJECT TO REDACTION)

MR. STERBERG: Can I just clarify one point?  I have not seen the spreadsheet, so I don't know what is on it.  I understand the information you are looking for.  Perhaps we can do this:  We will provide the spreadsheet or the portion of it that will show the information I think you are asking about.  To the extent there is other information on it that is irrelevant then we may need to produce it on a redacted basis.  I am saying that having not seen the spreadsheet.  But you have the undertaking to give you the information that I think you are asking for.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Sternberg, what we are looking for is the spreadsheet that was used to calculate the escalation rate based on the previous 10 years.  If there is information in there that is confidential, I assume that you would redact it.  If there is other information, you know, everything equal, it seems better to put it on the record.  Usually, you wouldn't go through and start picking out pieces of information because your thought about relevance may be different from my thought about relevance.

But, you know, we have our undertaking, and we will see what we get.  If you do start redacting pieces out of it, if you could indicate that in the undertaking response, then we can know what we are missing.  Thank you.

MR. STERNBERG:  Certainly, if there is a need to redact, we will indicate that and indicate why.

MR. ELSON:  So I understand that the 6 percent escalator was applied to integrity digs, and that was based over a 10-year period.  But it wasn't applied to replacement costs.

What is special about integrity digs that would cause twice the escalation of a replacement cost?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari:  I am just going to confer with my colleagues for a second.

[Witness panel confers]


Miaad Safari:  So I believe the first part of that question was why we used the escalation rate of 3 percent for other non-construction -- sorry non-integrity, construction-related costs.  So the 3 percent was derived based on the non-residential construction CPI index; that is a publicly available index for Canada.  And that assessment yielded a 3.3 percent average escalation over the last 40 years.

So that told us that would be a -- 3 percent would be an appropriate value to use.  So we have two sets of data that are backing up these assumptions.

Maybe, Mr. Elson, can you restate the second part of that question?

MR. ELSON:  I am trying to understand why integrity digs or -- let me rephrase that:  I am trying to understand why Enbridge would assume integrity digs are increasing by 6 percent, whereas other capital work is increasing by half that amount, by 3 percent.

What is special about integrity digs that would lead to such a greater cost escalation?  Like, physically speaking, what is different?  What are you doing that is so different?  It seems to be fairly similar work in some senses.  And to the extent that it is different, why would the costs be going up by such a greater amount?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari:  Thank you for the clarification.

Just to again provide a little bit of context, right now we are talking about the escalation rates that were used in the EI&R alternative.  The escalation rates used in the full replacement alternative or plan that we have are 4 percent.  I just wanted to clarify that.

In terms of your question about why integrity digs escalate at a higher rate, I wouldn't be able to speak to that because I am not super familiar with all of the different aspects that go into integrity digs.  They are a different scope of work, and they would have different challenges compared to a larger scale replacement.

But I could say that the values that we have used as we have explained are backed up by the data that has been observed over the last 10 years for integrity digs and 40 years for the non-residential construction CPI.

MR. ELSON:  Well, how do we know that the cost escalation over the past year was due to -- in the past 10 years, was due to poor cost control as opposed to underlying fundamental inflation?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari:  Again, I am not an expert in the matter of how integrity digs are conducted and the costs; I can just present the data that was used to support the assumptions used in the assessment.

MR. ELSON:  So this 10-year period that you looked at, this would have included the pandemic, right, and the cost pressures that occurred during that time?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Could you undertake to calculate the average cost increase of integrity digs for the years in your spreadsheet prior to the pandemic, so that we are excluding that unique factor?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari:  I am just going to confer for a second with my panellists.

Miaad Safari:  We don't really see the relevance in that undertaking for a couple of reasons.  One is, in the first undertaking, you have asked for the source information.  So you will have that information available to you, already.

Second is that a 10-year period is a long enough time that cyclical things that may come up, like the pandemic, could happen again, and the rates are being averaged over that period.

And third, as I have indicated, that trending analysis showed escalations of 8 to 10 percent per year.  And we have already applied a substantially conservative estimate of 6 percent.  So that should take into account any possible bias that you may be indicating that may have existed due to the pandemic.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Safari, I think what you are giving me is an argument about what the outcome will be as opposed to saying what is actually relevant.  And what we are looking for is Enbridge's calculation of the integrity dig cost increases, or decreases -- cost change -- for the 10 years prior to the pandemic.  We think that is a more representative sample.  We can have an argument about that, but I don't think that establishes that it is irrelevant.  Could you provide that for us?

MR. STERNBERG:  Perhaps I can just interject, Mr. Elson, if it assists.  I think it sounds like from a prior undertaking and from what Mr. Safari said, that likely the information you are looking for will likely be in the spreadsheet information that is covered by the last undertaking.  So I think we will have the information that way.  If that isn't going to provide you with that information, then we can take it back and consider further with Enbridge if there is an additional calculation that we can provide, but it sounds like the information will likely be already included in the last undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  I think it doesn't [audio dropout] --

--- (Off-record discussion).

MR. ELSON:  Yes, I agree with Mr. Reporter.  I could just hear you, Mr. Sternberg, so, when you speak again, maybe closer to the microphone would be helpful.

To respond to your comment, I think the challenge is that the spreadsheet goes back 10 years, and we are looking for 10 years prior to the pandemic.  So, Mr. Safari, is that something that you could put together for us?

MR. SAFARI:  I am just going to confer with my panelists for a minute.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. ELSON:  I should just mention, just so the panel knows, we can hear you just, and I probably shouldn't be overhearing you.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Elson, it is Mr. Keizer, Charles Keizer.  What we will do is we will look at whether or not we have the data, and, to the extent that we have the data, we will do the calculation, and, to the extent that we believe that it should be qualified accordingly, we will do so.

MR. ELSON:  That is helpful, Mr. Keizer.  Even if it is for a shorter period of time, it would still be helpful for Enbridge to do the calculation as opposed to for us to do the calculation, because that avoids the potential for disagreement about whether the calculation was done appropriately and us in essence creating evidence.  So I will leave that with you, but the way that you have described the undertaking is sufficient, and so, if we could have a number, that would be helpful.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be undertaking JT2.2.  Excuse me, JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING JT1.2:  WITH REFERENCE TO ED'S REQUEST FOR ENBRIDGE'S CALCULATION OF THE INTEGRITY DIG COST CHANGES FOR THE 10 YEARS PRIOR TO THE PANDEMIC, EGI TO LOOK AT WHETHER OR NOT IT HAS THE DATA; TO THE EXTENT THAT IT HAS THE DATA, TO DO THE CALCULATION; TO THE EXTENT THAT IT BELIEVES IT SHOULD BE QUALIFIED ACCORDINGLY, TO DO SO.


MR. ELSON:  It does seem like we have been here for two days already.

Going back to your comment about the non-residential construction CPI index, this material may be available publicly, but I think it should be on the record.  Could you undertake to file the 40-year data that you base your 3 percent estimate of replacement costs on?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, we can file that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be undertaking JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING JT1.3:  ENBRIDGE TO FILE THE 40-YEAR DATA THAT THE 3 PERCENT ESTIMATE OF REPLACEMENT COSTS IS BASED ON.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  If we could turn now to the annual maintenance plan and in particular to page 16, please -- sorry, the asset management plan.  Who on the panel is the most familiar with the asset management plan?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Elson.  So this is not evidence in this proceeding, as I understand it.

MR. ELSON:  Correct.

MR. KEIZER:  Is there an IR that it relates to?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  What is that IR?

MR. ELSON:  The IR that I was just asking about, IR-17.

MR. KEIZER:  Is there a particular element of this evidence that you are seeking to explore?  Just because it is a fairly extensive document and it is not part of the --


MR. ELSON:  Yes, Mr. Keizer, and I think that will be clear when I ask my question.

MR. KEIZER:  Okay, thank you.  I think the concern I have is we have now brought in a 288-page exhibit from another proceeding in total, and I just think that, if there is a particular element, that you should identify it, be very precise about it and how it relates to the undertaking -- sorry, as to how it relates to the interrogatories that have been posed in this proceeding.

MR. ELSON:  Yes, that would happen when I ask my question, Mr. Keizer.  Panel, who should I be directing questions about the asset management plan to?  Would that be you, Mr. Safari, or should I just go ahead and ask my question?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  No, I do not have a lot of familiarity with the asset management plan.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I would like to refer you to -- well, let me just say -- well, I will go ahead and ask my question.

I would like to refer you to the bottom of page 16 and moving in to the top of the next page.  At the bottom of page 16, last line, it says about halfway through the bottom line, "In each case, an escalator of 2 percent for inflation was applied," and then See table 1.5-1 for inflation assumptions.  There are a number of other references to a 2 percent cost-escalation figure being used in the asset management plan.  Panel, is that consistent with your understanding of the asset management plan, that it used a 2 percent escalator?

MR. KEIZER:  Is that a question to the panel in general, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure there is a panel member who can address the assumptions made or the creation of the asset management plan.  So, maybe if you could pose your question, we could see whether we could provide an undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  Well, maybe we should do it this way:  Is the panel familiar with the latest version of the asset management plan, and is the latest version of the asset management plan complete?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, is there a particular document that you are referencing?  Do you have that?

MR. ELSON:  Well, I know that that asset management plan is to be updated right around this time, and I am asking the panel if that update has occurred.

MR. KEIZER:  I am not aware of that, whether they know or not.

MR. ELSON:  Well, maybe we can let the panel answer that.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I am just going to confer with my panelists.

[Witness panel confer]

MR. KEIZER:  It is my understanding, Mr. Elson, just on this matter, that the asset management plan you are referring to is not a completed document, so I don't think we are prepared to engage in discussion about questions about what is or is not in a document that is not yet complete since those things can change or vary depending upon what happens prior to their finalization.  So we are not prepared to entertain that at this point.

If you have a question around this 2 percent that appears in the document that is on the screen, that, I guess, you know, you can pose that question.  To the extent we can answer it, fine, but, if we can't, then, you know, let's put it in an undertaking and we will get back to you on it.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Keizer, if you could let your panel answer the question.  They were just conferring.

MR. KEIZER:  No, the document is not a final document, and we are not going to engage in conjecture about what the actual end results could be in that document since they have not yet been finalized and it is not an approved document by the company, and so we are not going to engage --


MR. ELSON:  I am a bit confused, Mr. Keizer, because you had previously just said that you weren't sure what the status of the asset management plan is.  I asked your witnesses, and they were conferring, and they were going to tell me what the status of the latest asset management plan is.  Now, you are saying you are refusing to allow your witnesses to answer the question and you are answering the question.  I don't know where that information is coming from.  Are you providing evidence on the record?  It seemed to me like it would be much more appropriate for me to be able to ask questions to your witnesses, which is the purpose of the technical conference.

MR. KEIZER:  First of all, I am counsel to the company, and the company has advised me and it is my understanding as counsel to the company that that is a draft company.  That is the first question.  I have been advised that since the time you had asked that question.

The second is, the next question is:  Is your question a relevant question?  The answer is no because the document is not yet finalized or completed and, therefore, questions with respect to what is in the document would be draft and would be inappropriate to put something that is not necessarily approved and dealt with by the company.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, I will follow up with an undertaking request relating to the most recent asset management plan.  But let's deal with the version that we have up on the screen, which is the 2023 to 2032 first.

Now, I understand that this panel is perhaps sufficiently familiar perhaps not sufficiently familiar.  All I am looking for is confirmation that the asset management plan the most recent completed version of the asset management plan uses an escalation of 2 percent for inflation.  Is the panel able to confirm that, and if not -- I mean, it seems pretty obvious from what is up on the screen here; but if not can you take it away by way of undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, by the most recent completed plan you are talking about the one that is referenced on the screen.  Correct?

MR. ELSON:  Correct.

MR. KEIZER:  My understanding -- the witness just confirmed and told me off the record so I need them to confirm on the record about what they know or don't know.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  At least speaking for myself I am not aware or have any background on the inflation rates that are used in the asset management plan.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Could you provide by way of undertaking confirmation that the 2023 to 2032 asset management plan uses a 2 percent escalation rate for inflation?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, we will undertake to provide the information related to the inflation plan on the asset management plan that appears on the screen, yes, the 2023 to 2032.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be undertaking JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING JT1.4:  ENBRIDGE TO CONFIRM THAT THE 2023 TO 2032 ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN USES A 2 PERCENT ESCALATION RATE FOR INFLATION

MR. ELSON:  Now, just a technical issue.  We would like to be able to refer to the asset management plan, so we propose either that Enbridge file a copy of it or that there be consent to refer to it in a different docket.  I know that sometimes there are issues of referring to documents in different dockets.  So, we would ask Enbridge to undertake to either file the latest asset management plan or to confirm, by way of an undertaking response, that it does not object to us referring to relevant portions of the asset management plan filed in EB-2022-0200.

MR. KEIZER:  We are going to take that away and consult about that and be able to advise you after the break as to whether we would we able to do that or not, and our position in that regard.  It would be helpful, Mr. Elson, if you actually link these to the IRs, since it seems these are now exploratory questions beyond interrogatories that were asked in this proceeding.

MR. ELSON:  Well, this detour has taken longer than I expected, Mr. Keizer.  There has been a lot of back and forth between yourself and myself rather than myself and the witness.  But I will get back to that shortly.

I will have one more question, again, this is relating to Staff 17 and the inflation parameters that were used in Staff 17, which is the assessment of the cost of the repair option.  But I will have one more question, which is a request for an undertaking that Enbridge either file the latest draft asset management plan or indicate the escalation and inflation parameters used in the latest draft asset management plan.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can you clarify there is two things you said in your undertaking.  The latest asset management plan and then the last part was the most recent draft asset management plan?

MR. ELSON:  Sorry, I am not looking for -- this is a question pertaining solely to the most updated draft plan.  Not the one we had on the screen, the draft asset management plan and to either file that draft or confirm by way of an undertaking response what escalation and inflation parameters are being used in that draft.

MR. KEIZER:  No, we will not.

MR. ELSON:  And is that because Enbridge believes the inflation and escalation parameters are likely to change?

MR. KEIZER:  It is because the document is a draft document and harmonization been formalized or finalized in any way and as  a result we are not prepared to file that by way of undertaking or otherwise.

MR. ELSON:  Now, I did ask to either file it or just simply to indicate the escalation or inflation rate used in that document.  It seems highly unlikely to me that it would be changing between now and its finalization very soon.

MR. KEIZER:  We are not prepared to take the undertaking, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  When is the asset management plan expected to be completed?

MR. KEIZER:  This is not an enquiry about the asset management plan and the draft asset management plan.  This is an enquiry about the interrogatories that were asked of in this proceeding and you should direct your questions to those interrogatories.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Keizer, my question relates to Staff 17 and the escalation parameter used in Staff 17 and I am comparing that to the escalation parameter used in the asset management plan.  If you are refusing to answer the question, you are refusing to answer the question and I will move on.  Are you able to indicate when the next asset management plan will be complete, the one that we have asked questions about?

MR. KEIZER:  I cannot and you should move on.

MR. ELSON:  We would like an undertaking for Enbridge to recalculate Staff 17, attachment 4, pages 2 and 3, which is  scenario B, examining the cost of the repair option with a revised cost escalation figure throughout of 2 percent.  Could you undertake to do that, please?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  The escalation rates that we have used are backed up by data and we think they are appropriate.  So, no, we will not undertake to use escalation rates for this assessment that we deem won't produce the most accurate results in terms of the financial outcomes of this option.  While we are on the consideration of the escalation rates, I think it is important to also point out that the discount rate being applied in this case, 5.75, is based on the 2024 weighted average cost of capital, which is the OEB-approved approach.  

However, this rate was actually quite favourable to the NPV of this option as the 10 year historical average of the weighted average cost of capital, which you can consider that the future would likely be more inclined to be more similar to an average over the past, so the 10-year historical average of weighted average cost of capital, in this case the discount rate is 5.72 percent.  So, yes, you can change the escalation rates to change the results of the calculation but we need to root them in the data and we believe we have done that.

MR. ELSON:  With respect, you are talking about a difference of an escalation rate of 2 percent and 6 percent, which is a 3-fold difference, and an escalation of a discount recent by 5.75 and 5.27.  Have I got those figures correct?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Maybe I misunderstood your  request on the undertaking when you mentioned 2 percent, because you were referring to average rates that are distributed in the asset management plan I presume, which would be more similar to the non-residential construction CPI rates that we are using, generally, as the escalation rates.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  So, you had declined to answer our question because you believed there should be a different discount rate, sorry, a different escalation rate.  However that doesn't make our question irrelevant and we have gone around this many times with Enbridge and at the OEB.  And the expectation is that evidence is put forward to the panel and the panel makes the decision and we cannot be denying the panel access to evidence for it to make its decision.  And so, what we are asking for is not for you to agree that the escalation rate should be 2 percent for this assessment.  We are asking you to calculate the difference, and we can debate what the correct escalation rate is before the panel.

And so I will ask again for an undertaking, could you please recalculate Staff-17, attachment 4, page 2 to 3, scenario B, with a cost escalation of 2 percent?

MR. KEIZER:  Can I have a moment, please?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  So I think the witnesses indicated why the calculation that you are proposing is not meaningful with respect to the fact that it is not backed by data, and it is simply just an application of an absolute number, and not in reference to actually any underlying data.

So we can provide the calculation, but obviously Enbridge reserves the right to qualify its answer accordingly.

MR. ELSON:  That is sufficient.  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  We will make that JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING JT1.5:  TO RECALCULATE Staff-17, ATTACHMENT 4, PAGE 2 TO 3, SCENARIO B, WITH A COST ESCALATION OF 2 PERCENT


MR. ELSON:  Does Enbridge Gas -- sorry?

MR. SAFARI:  Yes, it is Safari:  Can I just ask a clarification on that undertaking?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. SAFARI:  So is the undertaking asking to override all work types with a 2 percent escalation rate?  Or specifically, the general escalation rate applied, which is 3 percent in that option?

MR. ELSON:  All.

MR. SAFARI:  And does that undertaking, because I assume that you want to then compare that to the NPV for the full replacement option, so does that undertaking also include recalculating the NPVs for the full replacement option.

MR. ELSON:  That would be helpful too.  Yes, please, Mr. Safari.

MR. SAFARI:  I am not sure if we have the time to do that much calculations in a short time span.

MR. ELSON:  Well, scenario B would be what we would be looking for.  And if you can also include scenario A, that would we helpful.  And you can let us know, in the interrogatory, the undertaking response, what you had time to do.

MR. SAFARI:  Just to clarify --


MR. KEIZER:  And, if we are not able to do it, we will advise as to why we are not able to do it.

MR. SAFARI:  I just need one more clarification question.  It is Miaad Safari.   So you want us to reproduce this specific table with the changed escalation rates?  Is that what you are requesting?

MR. ELSON:  At the moment, yes.

MR. SAFARI:  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  A follow-up question:  Could you undertake to provide the live Excel spreadsheets that constitute attachment 14 -- sorry, attachment 4, and were used to calculate the numbers in attachment 4?

And the reason I am asking for that is then we can run our own scenarios in terms of cost escalations.

So is that something you can provide?

MR. KEIZER:  Can I have a moment, please?

MR. ELSON:  As you are considering, Mr. Keizer, I realize that I misspoke.  It is also so that we could adjust some of the other parameters.

MR. KEIZER:  That is fine, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry to interrupt.  I am just going to jump in for the Reporter.  Is the undertaking clear to you, for the purpose of the transcript?

THE REPORTER:  I am not sure if you are directing that question to me, sir, or to Patrick.  And I am not sure what you are asking me, exactly.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am just asking if you understood the undertaking, so that it can be shown in the transcript.  There was just a fair bit of discussion about the nature of the undertaking; I just want to make sure it is clear.

Maybe, just to address that ahead of time, Mr. Elson, could you just restate that request?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And, by that request, we don't have a number for it, right, Mr. Sidlofsky?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  It will be JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING JT1.6:  TO PROVIDE THE LIVE EXCEL SPREADSHEETS THAT ARE UNDERLYING ATTACHMENT 4, INCLUDING THOSE THAT WERE USED TO CALCULATE THE NUMBERS IN ATTACHMENT 4.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Got it.  And that undertaking request is to provide the live Excel spreadsheets that are underlying attachment 4, including those that were used to calculate the numbers in attachment 4.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That is clear to me.  Mr. Siddall, are you good with that?

THE REPORTER:  It seems clear to me.  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you,  Sorry, Mr. Elston, go ahead.

MR. ELSON:  And so that is JT1.6, Mr. Sidlofsky?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That is right, JT1.6.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING JT1.6:  TO PROVIDE THE LIVE EXCEL SPREADSHEETS UNDERLYING ATTACHMENT 4, INCLUDING THOSE THAT WERE USED TO CALCULATE THE NUMBERS IN ATTACHMENT 4

MR. ELSON:  One last question in this area before I move on to other parts of Staff-17:  Could Enbridge undertake to -- or reproduce, exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1, page 19, table 7, which is the summary of NPVs for alternative A and B, with their various useful lives, based on a cost escalation of 2 percent?

MR. KEIZER:  Can we just make sure that we know what -- can we have that table actually brought up on the screen, so everyone has it in front of them?

Mr. Elson, you may have to repeat that, for purposes of people being able to bring it up.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1, page 19, table 7.

MR. KEIZER:  I just wanted to clarify:  Is that, given the amount of time and effort to create this table, something that we are able to do?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.   I don't perform the NPV valuations.  We have a team that does that.  But I expect this is a couple of months worth of work to recompute these six NPV scenarios, holistically.

MR. ELSON:  Well, Mr. Safari, Mr. --


MR. SAFARI:  We would have to (audio dropout) to the appropriate teams.

MR. KEIZER:  So what we will do, Mr. Elson, is we will take it away and we will clarify what can be done, what can be done, if you will; what can't be done within a reasonable time frame, recognizing the filing period of undertaking responses.  We will have to set that out in the undertaking.

THE REPORTER:  Sorry, this is the Court Reporter.  I think there might be a microphone placement issue, again, with counsel, just perhaps going back and forth between the two of you.  Thank you so much.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, then, maybe just to be clearer that, you know, what I was saying was that we would take it away.  We would consider what we were -- what was doable and possible to be done, within a reasonable time frame for the filing of the undertaking.

To the extent that we can't do something, we obviously would have to articulate that within the undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  If we could have an undertaking number for that.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  JT1.7.
UNDERTAKING JT1.7:  TO REPRODUCE EXHIBIT C, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 19, TABLE 7, THE SUMMARY OF NPVS FOR ALTERNATIVE A AND B, WITH VARIOUS USEFUL LIVES, BASED ON A COST ESCALATION OF 2 PERCENT, SUBJECT TO TIME CONSTRAINTS


MR. ELSON:  And I will note for the record, Mr. Keizer, moreso for your client's consideration, that they were able to provide various iterations of the similar table in the last similar case.  And I would hope that, you know, best efforts could be made.  But I understand that that is what is being committed, is best efforts.  And we will just have to see what the undertaking response says, and what is and is not feasible.

If I could turn now to -- further down in Staff-17, back to Staff-17?  And again, we are looking at the cost estimate for scenario 2, on page 2 and 3 of Staff-17.  And there are a number of lines relating to replacement.  So, near the top of page 2, there is a replacement that is $2.9 million, and that is in 2026, and then further down, in 2025, there is a replacement worth approximately $42 million.  I have a question about that $42 million replacement.  Did Enbridge decide that it had to replace that entire segment?  Because I see reference to some segments being selectively removed which hadn't been inspected, so my question is whether that $41 million could be reduced to the bare minimum, let's say, and other portions left to be inspected and, if yes, what would the differential cost be for that?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  So, if I could refer to C1.1, page 8, table 2, this table provides the work requirements for the two alternatives.  Under the "immediate work" heading, you can see that approximately 4.9 kilometres of mechanical protection and 1.9 kilometres of targeted replacements are needed to mitigate the threats from third-party damage.  So this 1.9 kilometres is necessary to mitigate those risks.

MR. ELSON:  I see that wording there, and it just seems different from the wording back on Staff-17.  If we could turn back to Staff- 17, in the line regarding replacements in 2025, it is roughly in the middle of the page, if we could zoom in a little bit, I will read it out.  It says:
"Two segments have been identified for replacement to meet risk targets.  These segments were strategically selected to also remove any uninspected segments of vintage pipe, 1.9 kilometres."

Let me ask a preliminary question.  What is the length of pipe that is being removed not because it is certainly in need of repair but because instead it has been uninspected?  What is the length of that portion of this 1.9 kilometres of pipe?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  This 1.9 kilometres replacement is targeting the third-party damage threat.  It doesn't have anything to do with the inspections, which are targeting other threats such as corrosion.  In this case, this sentence is merely saying that the targeted third-party damage replacements were optimized to also mitigate the corrosion threat or minimize the amount of inspections where possible.

MR. ELSON:  I think maybe someone else will need to follow up on that, but let me ask a different question in relation to replacement.  Could you undertake to provide the cost per kilometre for each of the replacement items in scenario B with the cost per kilometre of the replacement in scenario A?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I am just going to confer with my panelists.

[Witness panel confer]

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  The replacement costs indicated were based on estimates that were created by our capital development teams, and we can provide those estimates.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING JT1.8: TO PROVIDE A UNIT COST COMPARISON BETWEEN SCENARIO A AND SCENARIO B.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  That is helpful, I think, but let me just confirm what you will be providing.  So you will be providing the underlying documentation in support of those cost figures in both scenario A and scenario B.  Is that what you will be providing?

MR. SAFARI:  We will provide the cost figures.  I believe in this case we are talking about the EI&R scenario.  Are you also requesting the cost figures for the full replacement project?

MR. ELSON:  Well, I think we have the cost figures.  What I am looking for is a unit cost comparison between the replacement cost in scenario A and scenario B, so comparing the cost per kilometre for the replacement in scenario A with the cost per kilometre for the replacements in scenario B, so, between B and A, the costs per kilometre for the replacement work.

MR. KEIZER:  You are just asking for the comparison between the two, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And I guess what we can do is undertake to provide you that, and, to the extent that we can, we will obviously clarify what we can and cannot do and any qualifications associated with those calculations.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you, and I think we already have JT1.8 for that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  I will move on to the high-visibility slabs line.  This is an $11 million number.  There may well be a simple answer to this question:  Why wouldn't you also put high-visibility slabs in place for scenario A?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  In this case, we are installing high-visibility slabbing as an additional barrier to mitigate third-party damage.  Scenario A, which is the full replacement, does not need additional barriers to mitigate third-party damage as the pipeline as it is installed would meet our risk limits.

MR. ELSON:  What is the difference there?  Is that a depth-of-cover issue?

MR. SAFARI:  The new pipeline -- actually, sorry, let me just refer to the correct IR where we answer this question.

Miaad Safari.  I will list a couple of the reasons why the new pipeline would have much less third-party-damage risk, and then I will refer to the response in SEC-6 for maybe a bit more detail.  But in general, the new pipeline would have less third party damage risk as the pipe materials would have modern toughness to withstand impact.  The planned materials are also thicker, which also adds to the ability of the material to withstand before impact or loss of containment.  The new pipeline route, portions of it are running through less densely populated areas where we expect less construction activity, and then lastly as you indicated the new pipeline would be installed using modern construction practices and as a part of that there would be -- there would be -- we would ensure that there could be adequate depth of cover throughout the pipeline's installation.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you that is helpful.  Going back to Staff-17, and we have been talking about the 41 million replacement which is meant to address third party damage risk.  Why couldn't you address that third party damage risk with more high visibility slabs?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  So as part of the assessment of these alternatives we try to be as thorough as we could to ensure that we are putting forth an alternative that is truly feasible.  So, as part of that we performed a detail feasibility review, a desktop study along the right of way to see what parts of the system mechanical slabbing would be feasible.  And that yielded 4.9 kilometres that would be plausibly feasible.  There is still quite a bit of uncertainty associated with that as we do expect the 4.9 kilometres would cause quite a bit of public disruption and that might impact our ability to get permits and as well limit access of other utilities to their assets as well.  But that feasibility study concluded that we could feasibly install slabbing on 4.9 kilometres of pipeline.

MR. ELSON:  No, that is fair.  But why not the other 1.9?  If you are able to get the permits to replace a pipe entirely, and you can replace it entirely, why couldn't you put other cheaper measures in place like high visibility plates -- sorry, high visibility paint, slabs, so on and so forth to prevent third party damage, or reduce the risk of third party I should say?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I am just going to confer with my panelists.

[Witness panel confers]


Miaad Safari.  So the sections that are a part of the  1.9 kilometres were deemed to be -- it was deemed that it was not feasible to install slabbing due to utility congestion in those areas, and hence other measures or actions were needed to mitigate the third party damage risks.

MR. ELSON:  I am not quite sure how you could replace but not protect but, you know, maybe one of my colleagues will need to follow-up on that because I should move on.

So, I would like to move on to the lines relating to struck crawler tool.  And if someone second zoom in on the screen just a little bit so the folks can see.  That is helpful.  And so --


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Elson, are you going to a new area at this point?

MR. ELSON:  Well, I mean, kind of.  Are you asking whether we should have a break?  Because I would be happy to have a break if that is your preference.

MR. KEIZER:  I was going to that point asking if it would be an appropriate time to break.  Mr. Sidlofsky?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I was also wondering about that.  So I was going to be interrupting Mr. Elson at some point.  Maybe now is a good time.  15 minutes, so we -- let's say we reconvene at 11:30.
--- Recess taken at 11:14 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:31 a.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  And we are back after the break.  Mr. Elson, please continue.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I was asking questions regarding Board Staff-17, attachment 4, and pages 2 and 3, which are an estimate of the cost of the repair option.

And I would like to ask about the costs relating to crawler tool retrieval.  And the first line is listed as being upfront 13.  And then the second line and all other remaining lines are ongoing 19.

What is the upfront 13 in 2025 versus the 19 ongoing in 2029, and onwards?

And to see the reference to upfront versus ongoing, we would have to move a little bit to the left.  And then we can come back here again, on the screen.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Earlier, I pointed to C1.1, table 2, where the work was broken up into two columns:  immediate work and lifecycle work, or ongoing.  So the upfront and ongoing classifications would essentially align with those work types.

MR. ELSON:  Yeah.  I just don't understand what is an upfront work for stuck crawler retrieval.  What is that?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  So if you look at point No. 1 on this table, under the EI&R section, it says:
"Installation of retrofits at 12 additional crawler ILI launch points, and 13 inspections covering an extra kilometres, to address the high corrosion risks."

So the 13 stuck crawler tool factors that are provided and classified as upfront work relate to those 13 inspections.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  If you look back at Staff-17, the lines relating to stuck crawler tool retrieval, in the far right-hand column, the costs are escalating.

Is that because they are cumulative costs for that category, or because of escalation?  Why are they escalating like that?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  So that column is referring to the escalated costs.  So that would be the incurred costs in that year spent.  That would be, in this case --


MR. ELSON:  Let me clarify.  I understand why it goes from $190,000 to $220,000.  But I don't understand why the top line goes from $133,000, and the bottom line of the stuck crawler tool retrieval goes to $1.1 million.  Is that just escalation?  Or this is a cumulative line?

MR. SAFARI:  That is just escalation.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Generally speaking, robotic in-line inspection is fairly new.  Right?  You weren't doing it when we -- or you hadn't used it, prior to the previous application.  Is that fair to say?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Yes, we did use it, previously.

MR. ELSON:  But you hadn't used it on these pipelines, previously, right, for your previous application?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Not on the St. Laurent pipeline.  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  And so doesn't it seem likely to you that, as the technology progresses, we are going to have less crawler tools get stuck pipelines?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Not necessarily.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And I would like to talk about the crawler tool inspection cost lines.  Per item, it is $81,000, and there is 19 of those per year at seven-year intervals.

What is that $81,000?  What does that entail?  Is that $81,000 for a certain number of kilometres of crawling?  Like, how many days does it take?  Can you provide a bit more detail?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  The $81,500 refers to the cost to inspect one segment.  And these tools require essentially segmentation inspection, as they typically have a 500-metre range.

In this case, we have used the latest inspection cost provided by the vendor in 2024, to estimate what the cost of one segment of inspection is, and multiplied it by the number of required inspections to have the necessary coverage of inspection as per this scenario.

MR. ELSON:  And is that cost per segment the same, higher or lower than your actual cost per segment in the most recent crawl that you did?

Maybe it is best if you take this away by way of undertaking, to provide a table comparing your estimated cost per segment with the cost per segment in, let's say, the five most recent crawls done in Enbridge's system?

Can you undertake to provide that?

MR. SAFARI:  This estimate is based on a 2024 quote by the vendor to inspect a segment of pipe.

MR. ELSON:  No, I understand that.  And I am asking you to compare this number to the actual cost that you paid in the five most recent crawls.

MR. SAFARI:  I am just going to confer with my panellists.

Miaad Safari:  Yes.  We can compare the costs used in this estimate with the five latest estimates, based on 2024 work.

MR. ELSON:  Could you compare it to the five latest, like, actual costs?  Like, what -- like, bills you paid?

MR. SAFARI:  The work -- when we get a proposal by -- from the vendors, that is the cost.  It is not a time-and-materials-type work.  It is an all-inclusive cost.  So --


MR. ELSON:  Okay, got it.  So actual costs, okay.  That is fine.  Yes, thank you.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Mr. Elson, just keep in mind that the work was carried out in 2022.  And the estimate that this, these numbers are based on, are 2024.  So there will be a difference there.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be undertaking JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING JT1.9:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE COMPARING ENBRIDGE'S ESTIMATED COST PER SEGMENT WITH THE COST PER SEGMENT IN THE FIVE MOST RECENT CRAWLS DONE IN ENBRIDGE'S SYSTEM

MR. ELSON:  For the 2024 estimate, you are basing it on one quote.  Did you put it out to a number of vendors, to make sure that you are getting the lowest cost?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I believe this was based on one vendor that was used for the Ottawa inspections back in 2022.  The in-line crawler technology for certain sizes and certain technologies is not a very abundantly available technology for many vendors around the world.  So the vendor we used has clients across North America and the world, for that precise reason.

MR. ELSON:  And I understand the range is roughly 500 metres.  I imagine that that has changed over time, that these tools have been gradually improving?  Is that fair to say?

MR. CHEBARO:  That is incorrect.  Mohamed Chebaro.  The last I heard from the vendor, and I was at a field visit a couple of months ago with them, and the range as far as I am aware is still 500.

MR. ELSON:  No, no, you misunderstood my question.  I am saying that 500 is better than it used to be, and that the technology is gradually improving.  Is that accurate?  Or no?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I am not exactly sure about the range.  I know that in-line inspection technology from a sizing and detection perspective is work in progress that keeps improving.  But the 500 has to do with the battery life of the tool, and, as far as I am aware, it still applies currently to their inspection ranges.

MR. ELSON:  How confident are you that the price is going to escalate, increase, as opposed to decrease due to improved battery life and improved performance of what is a relatively new technology?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Maybe I could provide the different perspective.  You know, crawler in-line inspection technology is more recent than other types of in-line inspection technologies.  The improvement in technology, whether it is ultrasonics or magnetics, as it pertains to detection or sizing does not necessarily equate to an improvement in cost or reduction in cost.  So I could speak from my experience with other vendors and other types of in-line inspection tools that we have been using for many years at Enbridge.  Yes, the technology is improving, but that doesn't necessarily mean the cost is dropping.  In fact, some of the costs escalate precisely because the technology is now able to detect more and size more and therefore require more analysis from the specialized folks at the vendor, you know, at the vendors.

MR. ELSON:  And your cost estimates didn't account for that possibility of costs changing as the technology improves and proliferates and achieves greater economies of scale with respect to robotic ILI.  Fair?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  As Miaad Safari indicated, the numbers provided were based on 2024 estimates, but, again, I would like to reiterate that, mass scale or not, that doesn't necessarily translate into cost efficiencies.  It may result in better performance but not necessarily cheaper in-line inspection costs per metre or per run.

MR. ELSON:  If we could turn to page 4, please, which is the next page, and this has the Integrity digs listed on it, which are a large part of the cost, and you will see that number of digs is set to increase.  And I understand, based on this table, that in essence after the second inspection campaign, for the third and later, it is based on just a trend line.  Is that fair to say?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Now, the challenge I have with this is that you will have just replaced smaller portions and fixed smaller portions.  So wouldn't there be a countervailing tendency for there to be less pipe that needs to be fixed because you have already fixed parts of it?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  So I think your question is  related specifically to the escalation of or the increase in the dig numbers past the third campaign?

MR. ELSON:  Well, I think third and later, yes.

MR. SAFARI:  Third and later.

MR. ELSON:  If that element is one you folks didn't consider, that's fine.  You can just let me know, and I can move on.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Sorry, I was just collecting my thoughts.  So, to calculate the long-term trending of the number of digs that we expect, we looked to our transmission integrity program that has a history of consecutive inspections over a large time frame and we looked at pipelines that would have similar levels of corrosion density as the SLP.  It was found that, on average, the number of digs increased by a factor of 1.1 between successive ILI campaigns.

MR. ELSON:  1.1 percent or 10 percent?

MR. SAFARI:  A factor of 1.1; 10 percent increase.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I am going to come back to this topic, but, if now I could turn to the response to Board Staff-4 and the bottom of the first page, I will just read it out as it is getting pulled up on the screen.  It says:
"It was Enbridge Gas' understanding at the time that sufficient historical evidence (e.g. inadequate cathodic protection, repair and leak history, tacit knowledge of pipe condition, existing monitoring, et cetera) existed to justify the replacement project as part of Enbridge Gas' previous LTC submission."

That is at the bottom of page 1, top of page 2 there.  My question is this:  How significant was the inadequate cathodic protection in telling Enbridge back in May 2022 that the pipeline probably needed to be replaced?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  So, just to perhaps provide a different lens to this, I think the message from or the response from Staff-4 that we intended to send here was that historically the question was:  Why did we not have a targeted integrity management program for the St. Laurent prior to May 2022?

So, just to provide a fulsome context to the answer, the answer was that, historically at Enbridge, the historical evidence that was collected from a particular pipe, be it leaks or tacit knowledge from operations, modelling, repairs on the line, et cetera, were sufficient to justify the further actions required for that particular line.

So we mentioned cathodic protection as one of the many items at the time, in response to why we did not have a targeted inspection program.  I am not sure if that answers your question.

MR. ELSON:  Almost.  The question is:  How significant was the inadequate cathodic protection in telling Enbridge that the St. Laurent pipeline probably needed to be replaced?  Was that a major factor?  It seems like it was because it is the first in the list here, but it is not clear to me.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I would like to confer for a moment, please.

[Witness panel confer]

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  So, just to confirm, the examples provided in the bottom of page 1, top of page 2, are not ranked in any particular order.

So cathodic protection was a factor at the time.  It was part of the information available to the team that made the recommendation to replace the pipeline.  Obviously, there was no in-line inspection data presented at the time or available at the time, so this was a factor.

Now, quantifying the extent of that factor, I am not able to speak to that, but what I do know is that cathodic protection is an indirect measure of the condition of the pipeline when it comes to corrosion and susceptibility within an asset.

MR. ELSON:  And inadequate cathodic protection is an indicator because it is a problem, because it means that the pipe is more likely to corrode.  Do I have that correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  That is one of the obvious factors.  Corrosion could be caused by several factors, including coating and type of soil that the pipeline is in, but cathodic protection is definitely one of the factors.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And now I understand that since that -- well, in the last 5 or so years Enbridge has improved the cathodic protection on the St. Laurent pipeline; right?


MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Correct.


MR. ELSON:  And can you undertake to provide, on a length basis, the kilometres of pipe that had inadequate cathodic protection and the kilometres of pipe that have adequate cathodic protection now compared to 2020?


MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I would like to confer with my colleagues.


[Witness panel confers]


Mohamed Chebaro.  Just to respond to your question here, I just want to clarify that cathodic protection is a transient method for protecting the pipe, so it is not a constant.  It is a transient thing and the data collected on it is not something that is, let's call it, black and white.  It is not binary.  And I do also want to mention that the current recommendations that we have made, and the quantitative risk assessment that was conducted, is based on the current cathodic protection conditions of the pipe post-remediation or post-improvement and is not based on the historicals that you have been alluding to.  And lastly I would like to mention that even if the cathodic protection on a particular system is improved, the damage done prior to that obviously doesn't fix itself.  So, if there is a corrosion feature that was growing because of a lack of cathodic protection and now you have improved your cathodic protection that may slow down the corrosion growth, but if it was at 50 percent it is going to still be at 50 percent plus.


MR. ELSON:  Of course.  And I will have a follow-up question on that.  Your comment about how it is transient I think means you only have data points like a point in time data.  So, your point in time data for the inadequate cathodic protection, are you saying it is not from 2020; it is from 2022 that is when you have the best data?


MR. CHEBARO:  Yes, I believe we have done a close interval survey in 2022 and that is I believe the latest data we have on the line for that particular item.


MR. ELSON:  Well, as well you have the present data, right?  Because you have done more recent work.


MR. CHEBARO:  I believe we do, yes.


MR. ELSON:  Okay. So, could you undertake to provide a comparison on a per kilometre basis between 2022 and the present and the planned, if the pipelines were to remain in the ground as you had mentioned, in terms of the kilometres of cathodic protection that were inadequate versus adequate?


MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro --


MR. ELSON:  On a best-efforts basis.


MR. CHEBARO:  Yes, just give me a moment, please.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And if 2022 is the wrong date and it needs to be 2020 or 2018, that is fine, too.


MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  we can take the undertaking, Mr. Elson.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  We will make that undertaking JT1.10.

UNDERTAKING JT1.10:  TO PROVIDE A COMPARISON ON A PER KILOMETRE BASIS BETWEEN 2022 (OR 2018) AND THE PRESENT AND THE PLANNED, IF THE PIPELINES WERE TO REMAIN IN THE GROUND AS YOU HAD MENTIONED, IN TERMS OF THE KILOMETRES OF CATHODIC PROTECTION THAT WERE INADEQUATE VERSUS ADEQUATE, ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.  Panel, should Enbridge pay for a part of these replacement costs if its cathodic protection program was insufficient and that has contributed to the need for this replacement?


MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Mr. Elson, as I mentioned earlier, cathodic protection is one of many layers of defence that Enbridge employs to protect its assets.  Obviously we have a very rigorous and comprehensive integrity management program that looks at many other aspects of the pipeline and cathodic is one of, you know, those many elements.  I am not sure I understand the question here.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And in fairness, now that I think about it, it is probably a question for the next rebasing case not for now anyway, so I well move on.


I have a question about Environmental Defence 10 and it relates to Environmental Defence-10 and Staff-17.  So, I will just actually ask for an undertaking which is to provide a table showing the average per year repair and replacement project over the last decade, and then corresponding with the future decades in Staff-17, attachment 4, pages 2 and 3.  I am looking for the table that compares the average frequency of repair and replacement on an annual basis.


MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I am just going to confer with my panelists.  We are not exactly clear on the ask, Mr. Elson.  Do you mind restating the request?


MR. ELSON:  Sure.  To compare the past decade and a forecast over the next decade in terms of the frequency of repair and replacement on an average project per year basis.  The data for the past is in ED-10 I believe and the data for the future is in Staff-17, and just to have a table that compares those.


MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  And just to be clear, you are talking specifically on the sale system?


MR. ELSON:  Absolutely, yes.


MR. KEIZER:  Would it be helpful to have ED-10 brought up on the screen, maybe, so we can see the historical context?


MR. ELSON:  And to be fair, I am not restricting you to ED-10.  I just -- I know that you answered some questions about historical projects in that interrogatory.  But if there are some items that are missing from that that you can clarify in the undertaking response.


MR. KEIZER:  So, why don't we do this:  I think we understand -- we know what the question is asking.  I don't know whether or not people feel that they are in a position to be able to say whether they can or cannot answer it today.  So why don't we take the undertaking?  To the extent that we can provide a response we will.  To the extent we cannot, then we will actually explain why we can't.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  That will be undertaking JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING JT1.11:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE SHOWING THE AVERAGE PER YEAR REPAIR AND REPLACEMENT PROJECT OVER THE LAST DECADE, AND THEN CORRESPONDING WITH THE FUTURE DECADES IN Staff-17, ATTACHMENT 4, PAGES 2 AND 3, A TABLE SHOWING AVERAGE FREQUENCY OF REPAIR AND REPLACEMENT ON AN ANNUAL BASIS.


MR. ELSON:  If we could turn to SEC 2?  So it is Exhibit I.1-SEC-2, attachment 2, page 8.  And I am looking at the figure at the far right, under the heading, "Net present value."  And I am trying to understand what this figure is showing.  If we could zoom in on the figure on the right, under "Net present value"?

And my understanding is that this shows that the replacement option is cheaper if the pipeline life goes to 2052 or longer.  Have I understood this correctly?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro:  The figure on the right is displaying the -- basically the two options for the replace and the EI&R option, as a function of time when it comes to NPV.  So the y-axis is the NPV, and the x-axis is the period in time.

Now you see there is a small green function on the right side that is centred around 2056, if I can see that correctly?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. CHEBARO:  And that distribution goes from just over 2050 to closer to 2062, I believe, or around that range.  Now that line describes the asset's useful life based on an aggressive electrification scenario.

So, as you see the solid line at the centre of the -- the solid lines in the graph are describing the mean, and the two dotted lines above and below the mean describe the confidence bounds for that option.

So, whenever an option crosses over another, that means from an NPV perspective it becomes more favourable.  So, based on that scenario, the green line as you indicated for 2052, that is roughly the intersection based on that version of that work, as I believe this document is dated March 2024, so it may not be the latest version of that.  That was one of the iterations that was presented to senior management.

That is the interpretation of that figure.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I think that was a helpful detail, but the gist of it was yes, that the replacement option is cheaper if the pipe life is 2052 or longer.  And the repair option is cheaper, if the pipe life is less than 2052.  Is that roughly right?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari:  I guess it depends on what part of the chart you want to make your conclusions based on.  So if you are referring to the mean of the values -- so, let me step back for a second.

This assessment is a probabilistic NPV.  In this assessment, we also included some of the uncertainties associated with the inputs that go into the NPV calculation.  So looking strictly at the means, then your interpretation is correct, except I am not exact on the date.  I can't tell from the chart.

However, the key conclusion that is presented right under the chart is actually a probabilistic conclusion that looks at the means that you have indicated, as well as the 95 percentile upper and lower bounds which are shown in the chart as the shaded regions.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And so am I correct that the inflection point, where it switches from repair being cheaper to replacement being cheaper based on the mean of each option, is 2052?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I am unable to tell if it is 2052.

MR. ELSON:  Can you confirm by way of undertaking --


MR. SAFARI:  I am not seeing 2051, but I might just be -- what I am looking at here.  We can go and confirm what that value is, based on the underlying data.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Elson, maybe I should jump in.  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. CHEBARO:  Yes.  I was just going to mention that there is a -- okay, I don't know if you can see it.  There is a small arrow that says "50 percent"?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. CHEBARO:  That is where the two options overlap in the --


MR. ELSON:  I know.  I just don't know if that is 2051 or 2052.  If you --


MR. CHEBARO:  Yes, we can confirm that.  Yes.  But again, with the caveat that this is an older version of that work, so things may have shifted slightly since then.  But we could confirm that.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, why don't you undertake to provide the latest version, and to include the inflection point in your undertaking response?  Is that acceptable?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, that is acceptable.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  We will make that undertaking JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING JT1.12:  TO PROVIDE THE LATEST CHART VERSION, AND TO INCLUDE THE INFLECTION POINT IN THE UNDERTAKING RESPONSE

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, Mr. Elson, we had booked you for an hour and a half. I have got you a little over an hour and a half.  Can you give me some indication of how soon you are going to be finished?

MR. ELSON:  I would like to be finished in 10 minutes.  And I recognize that I am robbing only from my future self.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am sure your future self will understand.

MR. ELSON:  Sir, could you undertake to provide an update of this figure based on the 2 percent escalation scenario that we discussed earlier in this proceeding?  So it would be to update this figure, based on the assumption of a 2 percent escalation.

And I imagine you may say "I am not sure whether it will be possible during the time," so I would be fine to have a best-efforts response.  And if you can't, just let us know how long it would have taken you and why you can't.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari:  Yes, we can try to do that on a best-efforts basis.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, JT1.13.
UNDERTAKING JT1.13:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE OF THE FIGURE BASED ON THE 2 PERCENT ESCALATION SCENARIO DISCUSSED EARLIER IN THE PROCEEDING

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I am going to be moving on to some questions relating to the Integral report.  Again, I am working a little bit on the fly here as to what goes to Integral and what goes to you folks, but I will do my best.

If we could start with Staff-14?  And there is reference in the response to Staff-14 to the rate of disconnections that Enbridge experienced in the HER+ program.  And, in the interrogatory response, Enbridge indicated that the data was pulled in March of 2024.

And I would just like clarity on what data was pulled.  Did Enbridge assess whether a disconnection took place based on the post-audit results, or through some other mechanism?

And, by post-audit, I mean the post-retrofit audit conducted under the HER+ program.

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood:  I think that is the case.

MR. ELSON:  Is that something that maybe you should double-check?  You sounded a bit uncertain.  I am happy to have an undertaking, or you could just provide the answer, subject to check.

MR. WOOD:  We can provide that answer, subject to check.

MR. ELSON:  So I imagine the post-measure audit takes place quite quickly after someone has put in a heat pump.  And sometimes it may take additional time for them to replace other equipment, and so we would ask if you could update the disconnect rate for the customers that are part of this cohort participating in the HER+ program and let us know as of now how many have either disconnected, like had their meter removed, or just closed their account, what percent.

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  I think again we could likely -- my hesitation here is that I am not sure when the latest data set was pulled.  So we have got the data from March.  Are you asking for a comparison against the data set that we have used here and seeing how that has changed or for a net new pull of the program participants from the HER+ to make a comparison on?

MR. ELSON:  I am looking for data that doesn't rely on the post-audit, sorry, the post-retrofit audit but data that looks at customers and says:  How many of these customers still have gas accounts?

MR. WOOD:  I am just going to confer.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

[Witness panel confer]

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  I think we would be able to undertake that on sort of a best-efforts basis.  I am uncertain about the length of time it would take to cross reference the customers who participated in the HER+ program against the current customer list, so that is really the concern I have here around a timing standpoint as it is not an insignificant ask or an insignificant request to make that cross reference.

So I think we could do that, subject to that best-efforts basis there.  If we can't do it, we would obviously describe why we weren't able do it within the time frame.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I will make that JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING. JT1.14: ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS, TO PROVIDE DATA RELATED TO DISCONNECTIONS AND REASONS FOR DISCONNECtiON RELATED TO THE HER+ PROGRAM

MR. ELSON:  Now, I had some questions further to Pollution Probe 44 and Pollution Probe 47.  You don't necessarily need to pull them up.  There was a request for the contract deliverables and the instructions and so on and so forth.  With respect to the instructions, you referred Pollution Probe to a page in the presentation from Integral, but that page really didn't include any kind of detail on the instructions.  Is there some other document that went back and forth, that could shed more light on what exactly Integral was asked to do?

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  The instructions we provided Integral are on that slide, page 3 of attachment 1, exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 1.  We asked them to do the math behind the Monte Carlo analysis.

MR. ELSON:  Can we pull that slide up, please?  If you could, repeat the reference.

MR. WOOD:  My apologies, Mr. Elson.  It is exhibit E, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment 1, page 3.

MR. ELSON:  So the only thing this says here is:
"Enbridge Gas required a probabilistic model for pipeline asset life for use in an economic analysis of maintenance versus replacement scenarios."

I mean, that is not instructions.  You couldn't take that and do anything with it.  You must have provided them with more than that.  Can you provide what you provided to Integral to result in this study?  I mean those -- there must be more instructions somewhere.

MR. WOOD:  Just a moment.  Cody Wood, Enbridge Gas.  At the onset of the project, we did have verbal dialogue with Integral about the nature of the work.  This is the summary of the instructions provided, but, to the extent that there is -- this is the written information provided around those instructions.  We had a conversation about what we were looking for, and this summarizes that conversation.

MR. ELSON:  Is there any sort of confirmation back from Integral, saying:  This is what, just to confirm, here is what you want?

Is there anything in writing anywhere?  Maybe I will put it this way because I can't expect you to remember all the e-mails that were sent.  Can you undertake to go back, look through your files to see if you can find a document, whether it is a confirmation e-mail from Enbridge or from Integral, detailing what Enbridge was asking Integral to do?

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  Again, Mr. Elson, we had a phone call where we discussed the particulars.  There was confirmation relayed of their understanding on the phone call, and we moved forward.

MR. ELSON:  You are saying there was no e-mail correspondence about what you were asking them for, either them confirming or you confirming?

MR. WOOD:  I am saying the confirmation of what we were looking for was relayed over the course of a verbal conversation with Integral --


MR. ELSON:  No, I know that -- sorry, go ahead.  I didn't mean to interrupt you.  Sorry, keep going.

MR. WOOD:  That is it.  I was just relaying that we had a conversation about what we were looking for, and, at the end of the meeting, we recounted our understanding and we moved forward.

MR. ELSON:  No, I understand there was a phone call.  Was there also an e-mail or something in writing, you know, a confirmation from Integral -- which is what I would expect there to be.  If there wasn't, that is fine, but I am just trying to confirm here if there was, in addition to the phone call -- which I do understand there was -- any sort of e-mail confirmation from Integral, any back and forth with Enbridge in terms of exactly what it wanted.

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  I don't believe that there was, but we can take a look.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Can we have an undertaking number for that?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  We will make that undertaking JT1.15.
UNDERTAKING JT1.15: TO PROVIDE DETAILS OF THE INSTRUCTIONS BETWEEN ENBRIDGE AND INTEGRAL, OR ANY CONFIRMATION DOCUMENTATION

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Thank you.  What were the respective roles of Integral and Enbridge, and, in particular, who was coming to the table with energy transition expertise as to the likelihood of costumers adopting heat pumps or the curve that would be appropriate to model such an adoption rate?

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  Enbridge provided the assumptions for Integral to run in the probabilistic analysis.

MR. ELSON:  Can you undertake to file those?

MR. WOOD:  The assumptions are provided at exhibit B:  Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 12.  I believe there is a summary of the assumptions there.

MR. ELSON:  Page 12 of the slides?

MR. WOOD:  Page 12 of exhibit B, tab 3, schedule --


MR. ELSON:  I think you might mean page 19.  If we could turn to page 19, is that what you are talking about as being the assumptions, page 19 of the slide?

MR. WOOD:  No.  Actually, it is page 12 of exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1 -- sorry, tab 3, schedule 1.  It is not in the attachment.  It is in --


MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Got it.

MR. WOOD:  -- [audio dropout] that was filed.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Got it.  And so how did Enbridge develop this scenario or these scenarios?

MR. WOOD:  I am not sure what you mean, Mr. Elson.  That is Cody Wood from Enbridge.

MR. ELSON:  How did you come up with this list here, from A to F?

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  Well, in consideration of what we looked at we outline in some of the preceding paragraphs introducing the analysis what it is that we were considering.  So, we were considering general service residential customers.  We were looking at aspects of space heating to simplify our analysis.  And then we looked at the factors or the independent variables that influence space heating and the choice for a residential customer to remain on the gas system.  So, things that influence those factors that I was just referring to are the lives of the existing equipment in the home, both the furnace and the air conditioner.  And then also the interaction of the end of life replacement decision between those two pieces of equipment.  The current penetration of air source heat pumps in the marketplace or the current, you know, current level at which people are perceived to have adopted that technology, and then how that technology nigh manifest over time.  In addition to that we are looking at understanding, you know, ultimately customer disconnections and the impacts of that.  So, we looked at the current rate of customer disconnection based on customers choosing to install air source heat pumps, and then we looked at how we could vary that over time to manifest different scenarios.

MR. ELSON:  And so, who developed the 15 scenarios on page 19 of the slide deck?  Was that jointly by Enbridge and Integral or just Integral or just Enbridge?

MR. WOOD:  I am just going to confer for a moment, Cody Wood.

Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  The case is a result of Enbridge's desire to understand how varying different parameters would impact the timeframe for when you would exhibit or expect to see zero customer under this aggressive set of assumptions.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  I think what you are saying is that those 15 cases on page 19 were put forward by Enbridge to ask Integral to run the numbers basically?

MR. WOOD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Okay.  And so, you or Enbridge decided when to use a logistic adoption curve, a linear or a constant adoption curve.  Is that fair to say?

MR. WOOD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And does Integral have any expertise to be able to say which is the more appropriate curve to use for this purpose of modelling or not?

MR. WOOD:  Are you asking -- sorry, you are asking whether or not Integral has particular experience with respect to how to  apply those curves --


MR. ELSON:  No.

MR. WOOD:  -- or how those curves change things in the outcomes.  Or -- I am not sure what you are getting at, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Well, for example, in the analysis of page 19 the adoption curves are all logistic for adoption of a heat pump.  Does Integral have the expertise to comment on whether those curves are most accurately logistics curves, constant or linear?

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  Just give me a moment, there is an IR response that speaks to the distinction between those curves and their applicability.

MR. ELSON:  I understand the difference in their applicability.  I am just wondering who is making the decision and who is the party that has the expertise to be able to say this is what we should use.  Is this an Enbridge decision, an Enbridge expertise and is Integral just crunching the numbers, or does Integral also have expertise to be able to say, well, this adoption curve, linear constant or logistic, would be more appropriate in the circumstances because of these factors?

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  Just going to confer for a moment.

MR. STERNBERG:  I just interject while they are conferring, it sounds like a couple different things you are asking about, Mr. Elson.  If you are asking specifically about what expertise Integral has, the witness may be able to give his understanding.  But it is probably a question you will need to more appropriately ask Integral themselves if you are wanting to know what their specific experience or expertise is.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Sternberg, as the panel is conferring on this question I'd just like to flag that I am going to be getting into some substantive questions.  And because we have two entirely different panels I am going to have to be asking those questions twice, which is going to significantly increase the amount of time that I need to use.  Because it is now becoming clear that Enbridge had more involvement in the development of this report than I first understood.  It would be much quicker if I could just ask all of these questions to the panel that has Integral sitting on it with Enbridge's witnesses.  If there can be a change in course right now that would be helpful for me to know, and I would actually stop now my questions.  Otherwise I will continue going.  I just want to have that on the record that, you know, I am facing that consideration right now.

MR. STERNBERG:  I am not -- I don't know if you can help us.  I'm not completely understanding that.  I don't understand why you would need to ask questions twice.  If it is a question that Enbridge can answer they will answer.  If it is a question for Integral they will answer.  I don't see why you would be asking the same question twice.

MR. ELSON:  Because I am going to want to know both Enbridge's views on it and Integral's views.  And in some cases I don't even know whose views are the most important because of the division in labour here, so I will just flag that for now.

MR. STERNBERG:  I think we are going to run into difficulty if you are saying you want to ask the same question and get different perspectives from both Enbridge and Integral on it.  I think we will run into difficulty, but why don't we take it a question at a time for right now?  If we think it is useful to talk further on a break we can.

MR. ELSON:  Well, all my questions coming up are of that nature, in that I am getting to the substance of the report and, you know, the appropriateness of certain aspects of it.  And it appears that I need to ask those questions to Enbridge, which I didn't anticipate doing.  I had anticipated those being more questions for Integral.  I am going to want to hear from Integral as to, you know, its views on these questions relating to its report, but I am now -- it appears have to ask both.  So it is just a timing issue.  I am just flagging it, I don't know what else to do.

MR. STERNBERG:  Why don't you did this:  Why don't you give us a moment to confer?

MR. ELSON:  Sure.  Mr. Sidlofsky, I just didn't catch what Mr. Sternberg said when he stood up there.  Did you?

MR. STERNBERG:  Sorry, can you hear me?  I just said give us a further moment we are considering what you said and trying to figure out what will be the most efficient way to proceed.

MR. ELSON:  Should we take a five minute break?  I am in your hands.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Sternberg, would that help?

MR. STERNBERG:  Sure.  If we take just a couple minutes I don't know if we will need 5, but give us 2 more minutes.  That would be great, thanks.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure.  Let's go off the record now and you can tell me when you are ready to come back on.

--- (Off-record discussion)

MR. STERNBERG:  Mr. Elson said in regards to the next series of questions he has.  And we will proceed the way he was suggesting, so we will have the appropriate Enbridge witness or witnesses return, with Integral and Posterity, so that these further questions Mr. Elson has will just be asked once, and the appropriate person can answer at that time.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, thank you.  That is helpful.  And, with that, I can defer the rest of my questions to the next panel, I believe.  And so those are my questions for today.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Elson, thank you.

We are now at the point where FRPO would be starting, Mr. Quinn.  For the public questions, we have got you down, in the schedule anyway, for 70 minutes.  I will want to take a lunch break at some point; let me know what you would prefer.

Would you rather we take a break now, and then you can start after the break? Or do you want to get started, and we can break at, say, one o'clock?

MR. QUINN:  Well, recognizing we had a later morning break, as long as it is okay with the folks, the witnesses and the court reporter,  I am willing to start now and we can break a little bit closer to 1:00.  But I am going to hopefully be less than the 70 minutes, but I won't be 15.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  I think that will be fine.  Let's get started with your questions, your public questions, or your non-confidential questions.

One scheduling note:  I would like to make sure we finish with the confidential session this afternoon.  So I am hoping the parties and the witnesses and our reporter are okay with a 45-minute lunch break, instead of 60.  Any objections to that?  Great.

Mr. Quinn, let's get going.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I would say good morning but, good afternoon, panel.  I am Dwayne Quinn, here on behalf of FRPO.  And I am hoping you can help me with this, because the pieces in the puzzle came together a little bit later, for me, in terms of what all of this means.

So I want to start with your evidence, D1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 5.  And I think there is figure 2 on that page, please?  Thank you.

So this, I understand, is a recent change.  I shouldn't say a "recent change", but this is a change from the initial proposal.  Correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  By "initial proposal", are you referring to the previous LTC application?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, yes.  Thank you for the clarification.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  Yes, that is correct.  This is a new addition of steel components to the scope of the project.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I am not sure to whom I should address this question, but there is an existing TransAlta line shown here.  And I would like to know, what is the maximum operating pressure of that line?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  I don't have that information handy, but I could undertake to get it, unless...

MR. QUINN:  Well, it is rather pertinent to what your plans may be.  So I recognize we do have a lunch hour, and maybe we can come back with that, after the lunch hour?  And I can ask some follow-up questions then, or in the confidential portion later on.  So if I can leave it at that, then I will move on to other questions, and you can check that out.

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark:  Mr. Quinn, I can answer that.  The existing line is fed from the St. Laurent control station, and runs at a MOP of about 1,900 kPa.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And specifically, Mr. Clark, my question is what is the MOP of the line?  What is it capable of running at?  I understand that it has been fed from St. Laurent.  Does it have capability above the 275?

MR. CLARK:  It is currently qualified for the 275.

MR. QUINN:  And so does it have capability above that?

MR. CLARK:  I don't have that information on hand.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, if you can do what you can to check at the lunch hour, it will be brought up this afternoon.  And then, eventually, we may choose to do an undertaking.  But I want more precision that I can provide and you can provide to help us move forward.

So I will move to another area then:  If you could pull up, please, I.1-FRPO-15, please?  Thank you.

And, in the preamble, we included the section from your evidence that is referenced, that talks about a leap in subsequent -- or a emergency repair was done.  And we would like to understand more about this, and how it affects your quantitative risk assessment.

We asked if the replacement section had been removed from all baseline analysis of continued risk of the St. Laurent pipeline project.  And, first off, the answer came back as that was completed on November 22, and was fully accounted for in the baseline analysis of the continued risk of the SLP.

Breaking that down, are you saying it was accounted for as being removed?  Or it was accounted for as part of the risks of the pipeline and maintained in the risk assessment?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari:  The section and this specific feature that is described as has been repaired was accounted for, as in that threat was removed from that segment of pipe, and does not contribute to the risks for that segment.

However, the feature itself is indicative of the condition of the pipeline, and hence was included as part of the condition assessment on the uninspected portions of the pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, for that comprehensive answer; that is much clearer than what I had read previously.  So, thank you.

Okay.  And not all of you were on the panel in the -- I will call it the previous LTC application for St. Laurent, if I could refer back to make sure we are clear about what we are talking about.

But we had an extensive discussion about the role of casings.  And I don't want -- I am not going to drag you folks through all of that.  But was there a casing involved at this location?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro:  Mr. Quinn, that location, the location where the 80 percent-plus feature was identified, could not be accessed.  And therefore, as far as I know, the answer is we don't know if there is a casing under the 417 ramp.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I respect that is a forthright answer.  But you did a casing, a study of all of your casings, did you not?  Because I am going to bring it up later on, but I don't want -- I want to go in flow, here.

But you did a study of your casings to know, to assess the casings you have and their current conditions.  How did you do that assessment, if you don't know where your casings are?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro:  I wasn't part of that study for the casing assessments.  What I could tell you though, for this particular line, as you know, this section of line dates for more than 60 years.  And the particular records about the presence or the absence of a casing is definitely not something we -- you know, we have right now, for that particular location.  And for that, my answer is the same.  We don't know if there is a casing under the 417 --


MR. QUINN:  I understand and respect your limitations of your knowledge.  Is there anybody on the panel that can answer that question?  What I am asking broadly, if you did a casing assessment, you must know where your casings are.  And, if so, do your records help you understand if a casing may have been involved in this crossing?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I will confer for a minute with my colleagues.

MR. QUINN:  Sure.  Okay.  Thank you.

[Witness panel confer]

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  So I would like to pull up PP-6, attachment 1.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I was going to take you there later, but let's go.

MR. CHEBARO:  So again conferring with my panel and just prefacing this by --


MR. QUINN:  Sorry.  I may have spoken over whoever is managing the slides.  I apologize.  I think you said page 20.  I said page 19, but, if you could take us to that area, Mr. Chebaro, we will then have a document.  I will be able to see what he is referencing.

MR. CHEBARO:  Yes.  So, as I was mentioning, this is our understanding of where the casing locations happen to be, based on the best records available to us.  And, if you zoom in a little bit on that figure, where the 417 on-ramp is, just on that Tremblay off-take, you don't see a pin, but, again, that is depending on the records available to us.

And my point earlier, Mr. Quinn, about the records:  In some cases, the records do indicate certain things, like the presence or absence of casing; in other cases, we have evidence from field operations and other data sources that could allow us to know that these casings are present or absent, but, in other cases, we don't have that clarity or that certainty.

MR. QUINN:  I respect that we keep records better today than maybe decades ago.  But if you would scroll up, please, to page 19, this describes the casing investigation.  Yes.  So it says:

"There are 16 casings identified on the St. Laurent pipeline, as shown in figure 5."

Which is the one you just took us to:

"There have been no reported shorts at known casings detected at this time, as of December 2022."

So, stopping there, that is for the ones identified.  However, the example from 2006, from the last LTC application, does that include your assessment that there wasn't a casing involved in 2006, or are you speaking to the current conditions in place as of December 2022?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Mr. Quinn, we can take that as an undertaking, to validate whether a casing is present or not, to the best of our knowledge, further to what is presented here, in figure 4.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, that would be helpful.  If it is helpful to you, in the last transcript of the last LTC case from the technical conference, pages 11 to 26 go through our discussion about the possibility of casing involvement.  And so I would like to make sure that you are aware of that as you make your determination as to what this referenced, no reported shorts at known casings detected as of this time of December 2022.  Are you comfortable with that?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  That will be undertaking JT1.16.
UNDERTAKING JT1.16: TO VALIDATE WHETHER A CASING IS PRESENT OR NOT, TO THE BEST OF ENBRIDGE'S KNOWLEDGE, FURTHER TO WHAT IS PRESENTED HERE, IN FIGURE 4.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Now, on a related topic -- and I am reluctant to go there, but I have got to ask.  Staff-7, if we could display that, please, Staff-7 refers to a 162-metre segment dig at Tremblay Road, and it was abandoned and replaced as of November 2022.  Are we talking about the same location, of the 417, the Highway 417 -- the issue that we were talking about in FRPO-15?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  All right, so these are one and the same.  And what I would like to ask is, because it is not really referred to:  What was the root cause?  Does Enbridge do a root-cause analysis when it has a significant incident?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  We do when it is practicable to do so.  In this particular case, the 80 percent feature as indicated -- again, it could be deeper than 80 percent, but the 80 percent-plus feature, based on the in-line inspection magnetic flux leakage axial measurement, indicated that there was a feature just under the on-ramp to the 417.  Since we could not access this particular feature to obtain a material sample and conduct material analysis, physical testing, and chemical analysis, in that particular case, we could not access the feature to conduct the necessary root-cause analysis for that particular location.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am not asking for speculation, but, to the extent that you know where your other 22 casings or whatever the number of casings you have inspected, does this fit the criteria that would lead you to conclude that it is very possible there was a casing involved at this location?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Mr. Quinn, as I indicated earlier, we are going to check per your request, and we could be providing you with objective information rather than speculative information.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If that previous undertaking is going to include the root-cause analysis or the limitations to doing that, then that would be sufficient.  So you will provide that in that previous undertaking, then?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  No, Mr. Quinn.  What I was referring to is we will confirm whether we believe upon further checking if a casing was indeed present or could indeed be present at that location.  But, as I indicated, a root-cause analysis would require us to have access to the feature under consideration for us to send it to a lab, look at it under a microscope, to determine the root cause of that feature.

So we can tell you potentially with a high level of certainty, although folks tell me that they have checked and you have looked at the figure yourself, but we could take a second look to see if there is a possibility that there is a casing there, and that is what we are willing to undertake at this point.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I respect, and that is why I said I am not asking you to speculate.  But there might be information that would be helpful.  Answer the undertaking to the best of your ability; that would be helpful.  But maybe the more important question to do this root cause analysis.  We may or may not agree on whether the casing was involved in 2006.  We believe it was and you -- there has been many other cases across North America of casing involvement creating, not only leaks, but potentially some very significant leaks because of the nature of the interference.  Has Enbridge expanded its practice, as it has here in Ottawa, to look at the casings that it can locate and inspect those casings to ensure that there is not -- there are not other casings out there that would be susceptible to the same type of cathodic protection interference?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Mr. Quinn, maybe I will answer in a more comprehensive way beyond casing.  So, Enbridge as you know has a very --


MR. QUINN:  Sir, I recognize that you want to give the more comprehensive answer.  I am looking specifically to casings because that is what I am concerned about is going on here.  You may or may not conclude that is the case, but 2006 there was more significant evidence of casing that was in the trench, corroded casing.  So, I am asking specifically to casings:  Has Enbridge expanded its practice to assess casings that it is aware of locations and tested those casings, inspected them, and are going to monitor the casings over time?

MR. CHEBARO:  If I may continue my answer this time, the in-line inspection program that is very comprehensive and ran across the transmission pipeline system for Enbridge does look for corrosion features, whether they are associated with casings, or they are caused by lack of cathodic protection, or they are caused by degraded coating, or soil properties, et cetera.  So we do look for corrosion on transmission assets across the system and other threats based on in-line inspections, based on non-destructive examinations, among other inspections.  Specific to distribution though, we have been also looking at corrosion through various methods such as external corrosion direct assessment, internal corrosion direct assessment, ECDA, ICDA.  But you are also aware of the enhanced distribution integrity management program that we recently launched, where we are attempted to run crawler in-line inspection tools in distribution assets, such as the St. Laurent pipeline, at the current time with magnetic flux leakage, axial, tools along with an ability to detect deformation.  So, those tools would be able to identify corrosion features, general corrosion features, whether nay are caused by casings or other root causes.

MR. QUINN:  I understand all of what you said, sir, and I am asking maybe a more specific but generalized question.

Has Enbridge undertaken any kind of information search from maps to records to look for casings and ensure that they become part of, let's say, the nice things you doing under EDM?  I think those are good steps, but are you doing it with a focus to say, let's find those casings and make sure if we're going to run that crawler through distribution pipe that we haven't previously, we make sure that these areas have priority?  That is a yes or a no.

MR. CHEBARO:  I would like to confer for a minute, please.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, subject to check, I don't believe we have a specific casing investigation program.  However, I do want to emphasize that casing is one data point of many, many types of data points that we look at.  And as I indicated earlier, the programs whether it is the direct assessment programs, the NDE programs or the ILI programs, are industry-acceptable methods for us to discern and measure extent of corrosion within a pipeline, whether it is casing related or not.  So, I know you are focusing on casing because that was an item that was brought up last time, but just want to mention this is one of many, many threats and reasons or roots causes we look at.

MR. QUINN:  I understand your perspective.  But you don't want to go back and check?  I am hearing so you don't think you have a casing focused assessment program?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Quinn, I guess to bring it back you are talking about it generally but we are here for a specific pipeline.  So, I think the witness answered the question with respect to the 417.  He is showing you a slide or a picture where all the casings are on this pipeline, so that is what we are here today.  We have given you a lot of latitude to have your discussion with respect to things in general, but I guess I am urging you to bring it back to the context of this particular pipeline so it will be informative for the purposes of this technical conference.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, the EDM program to which Mr. Chebaro referred is a relatively new program that was endorsed and encouraged by ratepayers to ensure safety.  As an industry leader we would expect Enbridge wouldn't necessarily hold itself to what the industry standard is, but as an ongoing learning to say if be are having these types of incidents when we do a root cause analysis, the benefit of doing a root cause analysis is to ensure that you reduce the chance of reoccurrence of a problem.  So, I am asking it, yes, generically but I am going to ask some nor questions about it later this afternoon in terms of what specifically happened in the Ottawa system.  So, I am asking, and I will ask one more time for the record, does Enbridge have a casing assessment -- a focus on casing assessment to find their casings and do some form of inspection?  If the answer is no --


MR. KEIZER:  And I believe he has already answered your question.

MR. QUINN:  He said I don't think so.  So that's -- I want to make sure the record is clear:  Is that a, no, you do not have, or do you want to check?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Quinn, if it will end this line of questioning which I think is now beyond the realm of this technical conference, we will undertake to confirm the answer that the witness has given with any appropriate qualifications attached to it.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Quinn, just before you go on, we will make that JT1.17.
UNDERTAKING JT1.17:  TO CONFIRM THE RESPONSES OF THE WITNESS WITH ANY APPROPRIATE QUALIFICATIONS

MR. QUINN:  Yes, I am sorry, Jamie.  I was about to indicate to you that this would be probably an appropriate place to break for everybody's benefit so we can carry on from here after lunch.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  It is just a couple of minutes after 1:00, and thanks for that, Mr. Quinn.  Why don't we reconvene at 1:50.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, everybody.
--- Recess taken at 1:02 p.m.
--- Resuming at 1:53 p.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Welcome back.  We are back on the record, Mr. Keizer.  I understand you have a preliminary matter?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  It is a follow-up from this morning, when we had some discussions about the asset management plan.  And, over the lunch hour, we have had further inquiries about the current status of that asset management plan.

It is still in draft, but it is in the process of being finalized.  And it is our understanding that it will be filed next week, on Friday.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thanks, for that.  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.

And it is not necessarily in the nature of the matter, but at the outset of our questions, we were asking about the feed to TransAlta and the maximum capability of that line.  And I don't know if Enbridge has anything more to report on that, before I continue with my questions?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark:  No, nothing further to say on that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn.  I am just going to interrupt for a moment, I apologize.

Mr. Keizer, your comment about the asset management plan, I am just trying to make sure I am keeping track here.  Was that tied to a particular undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  No, it was not.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  That is fine.  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  I just want to make sure that it is clear, from what we said this morning.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.  Mr. Quinn, sorry.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  It might be helpful to make sure that the witnesses have what they need in front of them.  So if we can go back to the D.1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 5, please?  Okay.

So, in reading through this section, I understand that -- and maybe I will get the witnesses to confirm:  What Enbridge is going to do here has not been determined as final.  Correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you are looking at a couple of different of alternatives; I appreciate that.  In conjunction with why we are asking about the maximum capability of the TransAlta line, there is a potential for a cutover from the 470 line, which would make a lot of sense to some of us.  And if that line is good, for up to 500 pounds, I think we would have a very simple solution.

So what I am going to ask by way of undertaking, since I couldn't find it on the record, is what -- if Enbridge can provide the cost estimates for each of the alternatives that it is contemplating with the information tat it has now, so that that is on the record?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  So I think you are referring to the pressure reducing station option that is shown on page -- is that correct?

MR. QUINN:  Well, there was the pressure reducing option, cutting over from the 470 line.  There is also the line that is in blue here, which would be a newly proposed segment; I was reading from that, so that is another alternative.

The other alternative is checking out the condition of that line, and what it is rated for, and potentially upgrading that line so it is good for 470 pounds, which eliminates the need for a station.  So we would like the three alternatives costed.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  I think if we pull up to FRPO-29, I think that question has already been addressed.

So, as we mention in our response here, as we are still exploring all options and determining the overall feasibility, one of those considerations with that pressure reduction feed is we need to make sure that other customers, besides TransAlta, are still able to be fed off of the existing pipeline, and whatever abandonment is associated with that.  So we would still require some additional steel infrastructure to make sure that all customers still have gas service provided to them.

That pressure reduction option does involve a slight upgrade on MOP upgrade that would require an engineering analysis for a small portion of that pipe, up to that district station, and where we would cut the pressure back down to 275.

And, in addition, we would need to evaluate what pressures the TransAlta station would be able to accommodate if that district station, which I think is what you are proposing, is not installed, what pressures that TransAlta station itself would be able to accept at their location.

MR. QUINN:  And so, could you cost those factors?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  We are still evaluating all of the different items that are required to make sure that this is a fully feasible option.  So we would not be able to provide a cost estimate that would take into account everything that is required, because we are still evaluating all of those options.

MR. QUINN:  So what you asking the Board to approve?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  At this stage, we are asking the board to approve the replacement of the St. Laurent pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  I am talking about for the section of 600 metres of proposed new piping; that is alternative 1.  But there are other alternatives we were just discussing.  Are you expecting an order that would say -- and whatever you choose to do, to feed TransAlta?  Or is there going to be some process to ensure that the opportunities are there?

Before you answer, one of the things would be to talk to TransAlta, because they may benefit from a higher pressure and that, reducing their costs, I don't know that.  And I can't speak for them.  But generators, generally speaking, want the highest pressure they can get.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  In terms of this application with respect to the TransAlta feed, we would be asking the board to approve whatever our final preferred option is.  And our final preferred option will be based off of an economic analysis for the option that can be installed at the cheapest cost possible.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So what opportunity would other parties have to have input or discovery on the option chosen?  Are you talking about doing this, simply as a change order?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  If we change from our preliminary preferred route for this option, we will make sure that we provide notification to everybody in accordance with the guidelines from the OEB.

MR. QUINN:  But in the counterfactual, how would stakeholders understand if the most economic alternative was chosen, if Enbridge chooses not to file anything else and goes forward with the 600 metres?

MR. QUINN:  Aron Murdoch:  If Enbridge chooses to advance the 660 metres, that would be because it would be the most economic option available to it.

MR. QUINN:  But what opportunity do we have to have insight and discovery on how you came to that conclusion?  I see an opportunity here.  I understand it is underdeveloped, because you do need to do your due diligence.  I get that.  But to say we are still exploring how we want to serve this, but just trust us, we will choose the most economic option, we disagreed in the last LTC; we may disagree again.

That is something I think that should have some level of process as opposed to saying, you know, there are alternatives here and we hope to choose the best one.

MR. KEIZER:  Can we have a moment, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, absolutely.

[Witness panel confer]


MR. KEIZER:  First of all, I think it is a regulatory question, Mr. Quinn, not necessarily a question Mr. Murdoch can answer.  I think probably the best course of action to do, given the nature of the question you are proposing, is that we take it as an undertaking so we actually clarify Enbridge's position as to how it should proceed relative to the project proposed pipeline and any changes to that proposal.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate you are working with us, Mr. Keizer.  In addition to that, though, we are asking for Enbridge to file the cost of those alternatives once assessed.  Is that something that you can consider in that, whatever you are going to get back to us as an undertaking in terms of what the best course of action from your perspective is?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think Mr. Murdoch has indicated earlier about where it lies with respect to the costing, but I think, to the extent that that is a factor in clarifying Enbridge's position, we will be able to provide clarification in the undertaking in that regard, and, to the extent there is information that can be provided, we will provide it, and, if there is a reason why we cannot provide that information, we will advise.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I don't want to mince words, Mr. Keizer, so I just want to say it the way I am hearing it:  On best-efforts basis, you will try to provide an estimate of the alternatives and how you are going to proceed.

Because that is what we are asking for, is to have some level of understanding of cost.  We are talking about $10 million additional cost to this project, and, to spend some level of time to ensure that there is an alternative that may be less than a million is considered properly, we would like that comfort.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, and I think what we are saying is I can't tell you whether we can or cannot provide the costs at this point in time, other than what Mr. Murdoch has already alluded to in terms of the fact that the feasibility hasn't yet been done.  But, to the extent that we can provide it, we would.  If we can't, we would explain why we could not.

MR. QUINN:  And what I am hearing and what you would propose is the process under how this would move forward in the Board's decision making.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  -- from a regulatory perspective.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I know that is a convoluted undertaking, Jamie.  I am in your hands how to handle the naming of it.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, I will tell you what.  How about if you describe it, and we can have Enbridge's representatives confirm that that is what they are undertaking to do.

MR. QUINN:  We are requesting an estimate of the three alternatives, being the extension of the line, the potential addition of the station, or the potential upgrade of the TransAlta line to allow a cutover to the main 470-pound feed.  We are asking for those to be estimated, at least at a high level, on a best-efforts basis.  If that cannot be provided, why it cannot be provided and then, from a regulatory perspective, what Enbridge proposes as the appropriate approach that it would ask the Board to consider for approval.

Is that satisfactory, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  I think that reflects the nature of the undertaking, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Great.  So that will be JT1.18.
UNDERTAKING JT1.18: TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF THE THREE ALTERNATIVES, BEING THE EXTENSION OF THE LINE, THE POTENTIAL ADDITION OF THE STATION, OR THE POTENTIAL UPGRADE OF THE TRANSALTA LINE, TO ALLOW A CUTOVER TO THE MAIN 470-POUND FEED; FOR THOSE TO BE ESTIMATED, AT LEAST AT A HIGH LEVEL, ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS.  IF THAT CANNOT BE PROVIDED, WHY IT CANNOT BE PROVIDED; AND THEN, FROM A REGULATORY PERSPECTIVE, WHAT ENBRIDGE PROPOSES AS THE APPROPRIATE APPROACH THAT IT WOULD ASK THE BOARD TO CONSIDER FOR APPROVAL.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry to be so wordy, but it was complex.  Okay.  I will try to move on script.  Just as a heads-up, I hope to be done this next section or I will cut some things to stay within about a half an hour from when I started, so to leave enough time because the confidential aspect is more important in my mind.  And so, just as a heads-up to Mr. Ladanyi and others that hopefully I won't be taking the full 45 minutes that was available.

So, if we can pull up FRPO-10, please, I am just reflecting back on the conversation we had this morning, in which we talked about whether the removal of the pipe changes the risk profile.  And I think what I am seeing is your response in FRPO-10.

So we had asked about the level of risk before and after, and I appreciate you provided the after.  I think I asked for before and then after it was complete.  So you have got both of them there.  I couldn't, with my eye, see any difference in these two risk profiles.  My understanding is, yes, you reduced the risk by eliminating that pipeline, but, if that pipeline is -- I don't want to put words in your mouth, but, if that condition of that pipeline provides information about the rest of the pipeline, then there is remaining risk that is considered.

Can you tell me what any -- what change, if any, was made to the risk profile after the repairs?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  The repairs completed on the 162-metre replacement affected risk of that section that was repaired.  It did not have any impact on the rest of the system, and the results that you are indicating show that.

MR. QUINN:  Not to be argumentative, but I am trying to understand.  You took out 162 metres of pipe that you were concerned about and put in new pipe in spite of the fact that it's -- and I know it is only on that segment, but it is part of the whole system.  You are saying you did not make any changes?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  These figures, as indicated in the response, they may look the same, but they are showing the before and after risk profiles.

It is also important to note that the Y-axis -- in this case, you are referring to the frequencies of failure which you are expecting to be reduced.  The Y-axis on this chart is a logarithmic axis, so that might be why, just looking at it, it may seem like they are the same.  But, in fact, the numbers are different.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so maybe the specific question is:  What was changed in the production of the after-repairs risk profile?

MR. SAFARI:  So it is important to note that the risk or the frequencies of failures that were computed as part of the QRA are based on a significant number of data points.  And removing a few of those data points does not make a big material change in the overall risks to the pipeline, and that is what you are seeing on the chart here today.

MR. QUINN:  So the data points were removed, but the result was exactly the same?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  As I mentioned, the results are not exactly the same; you are looking at a logarithmic chart, so you are maybe not seeing the difference between the before and after.

If I can actually just take you back to FRPO-9 and the response on FRPO-9, this shows the before and after repairs but at the map level, so it is the same results just shown differently.  You can see the section on figure, the second figure in B, the section where the north-south and the east-west segments kind of come together, there is a section related to the 162 metres that is now considered to be low risk compared to the previous figure, where that is the before-repairs figure.

And I think this might be a good opportunity also to have some input from my colleague, Mr. Safari.

MR. QUINN:  Just before we leave those maps, I am not seeing any difference.  Your -- Tremblay road would be just south of the east-west portion.  Correct?  There is a red line that would show as being above limit on the first and on the second.  Are you saying there is a change in that length or what are you telling me?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, if we can just zoom out from this picture just for a moment please, Eric, and then maybe go to the pre-repairs figure for a second.  Yes.  And then if you can zoom back in to where Tremblay is.  You see the in-line inspection portion that is highlighted in the blue box?  On the east end of it the whole section is shown as red.  Now if you go back to the other figure, please.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, I see.  It is green now in that section.

MR. CHEBARO:  That small section of replacement is green.  So, what Mr. Safari was indicating earlier was that because the mitigation on that section only was able to mitigate a number of feature, out of 611 metal loss features and many other dents and gouges identified on the line, the materiality of risk reduction is not that pronounced and that is why you see the two matrices or am risk matrices, that you saw it is barely visible.  But if you zoom in, because it is a logarithmic scale, if you zoom in you do see that the mean, or the most likely scenario the dot, does move down a tiny bit when it comes to some of the risk measures such as financials.  If you compare F1 to F1, you will see the dot does move in by a slight amount in box G3.

MR. QUINN:  Well, your eyes may be younger and better than mine.  I couldn't see that, but I understand the point you are making now.  So thank you for your answers and I think we should move forward with FRPO-17, please.

Okay.  This is the one that came up briefly morning.  Basically I took wording precisely from DNV's letter and in the recommendation, basically, they are saying DNV agrees with the  Enbridge's conclusion that additional remediation actions -- sorry, DNV agrees with Enbridge conclusion that additional remedial action to improve the reliability of 8.8 kilometres of pipeline that should be considered.  But we asked DNV for their -- like, we were trying to understand, based upon the assessment, what would DNV's prioritized list of recommended remedial actions be, and we got if this is outside the scope of what they were asked to do.  I believe, and in most cases, experts that are providing evidence include the opportunity and the cost to answer interrogatories, so we were looking for their answer and not Enbridge's answer.  So, while it might have been outside the scope of what they initially did in their report, we were asking for their views.  And so, we would ask by way of undertaking if DNV could provide the answer to FRPO-17?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari, we asked DNV to look at our risk assessments and their conclusions and that scope did not include assessing what would be the most suitable alternative methodology to do those risk mitigation actions.  As we've presented in the C1.1 evidence, our evaluation of alternatives was exhaustive looking at residual risks customer disruption, financials --


MR. QUINN:  I understand.

MR. SAFARI:  -- uncertainty.  And that would be outside the realm of their expertise.

MR. QUINN:  I've read hundreds of pages of evidence.  I understand that there was a comprehensive assessment.  But you are asking an expert to review your assessment and give their views on it.  And we are asking, from their experience, what they would prioritize as actions to be undertaken, because you said down below that it is outside of their scope.  Frankly, I would say then:  Are they willing to testify as to what brought them to the conclusion that the assessment you've done is comprehensive and, in fact, they wouldn't have any opinion on where you would start with remedial actions?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Quinn, I think they are two different things you are asking.  One was asked of the experts to evaluate the risk assessment, which they did do.  You are asking them then to carry out engineering analysis with respect to remedial actions.  That is not what they are intended to do.  That is not their scope.  That is not what they were engaged to do.

MR. QUINN:  No.  Based upon their experience, and based on what they've read what would they recommend as the first steps of that remedial action?

MR. KEIZER:  No.  It is not a question we are going to be asking them, and it's, quite frankly, it is beyond the scope of their expertise.  The question is appropriately answered by Enbridge in this interrogatory.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So, you are refusing to ask DNV to do this by way of undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, we've responded to the question.

MR. QUINN:  No, no.  I am asking you to take it as an undertaking and I am hearing a refusal.

MR. KEIZER:  It the same question.  You asked in the  interrogatory.  We answered it in the interrogatory.

MR. QUINN:  And we anticipated an answer.  Now we didn't get an answer.  Now we, of course, don't have experts to testify in this technical conference.  So, our only recourse would be at the hearing and you're telling me -- or a motion or the other relief that I may so choose.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, you've heard my response and you've also seen the response of Enbridge, so.

MR. QUINN:  So is it a refusal then?

MR. KEIZER:  It is, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.  If we can go down to FRPO-20.  So, again DNV has -- I don't want to be pejorative but they have accepted the recommendations that Enbridge has made, and so we ask for cathodic protection undertaking since 2020.  Please specify what was done, and the location applied, and the pipe readings before and after the enhancement was implemented.

So, what we received down below was an assessment that was done in 2023, July, 2023.  And it says after enough steps were performed the data were analyzed to determine the appropriate increase in rectifier output to implement an overall increase of protection all levels within the rectifier's area of influence of 100 millivolts.  Sorry, I see that we are just catching up on the screen.  So, it is the bullet point and it is the second -- sorry, no.  The bullet point.  Sorry -- stop, pause.  Second page, please.  First bullet point.  I was reading from the third sentence saying, "after enough steps were performed the data were analyzed to determine the appropriate increase in rectifier output to implement an overall increase of protection levels within the rectifier's area of influence of 100 millivolts."  So, starting with the 100 millivolts; is that Enbridge's standard across the company for this type of piping?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari, I am just going to confer with my panelists.

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, so as part of the corrosion protection, these protection systems are reviewed annually to check for their effectiveness.  If we do find that they are low, then adjustments are made in steps in order to achieve at least that rating there.  But it is going to vary depending on pipe and depending on configuration and soil types.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So if we move then to 1.1, Pollution Probe-6, attachment 1, page 3?

So, in this report, it is referring to the cathodic protection, right in the middle, the fourth/fifth paragraph down:

"The cathodic protection survey in 2022 reported 8.1(sic) kilometres with no..."

And I have emphasized:

"...no adequate cathodic protection readings."

Given your answer, how do you end up with, in 2022, I mean, reading, "no adequate cathodic protection readings."  Was it adequate in 2021 and, in 2022, it was not adequate for that 8.1 - or the 1.8 kilometres?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari:  Looking further, so that, I believe is the executive summary of that report.  Looking further at section 4, it seems to indicate a range of readings.  We would have to look more closely to provide clarification on whether that statement is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, if you would like to take that by way of an undertaking, but I am asking specifically in this case, what were the readings then in 2021 or, let's say, as far back as 2020, when you applied for the original leave to construct to replace this pipeline?

So if you go from 2020, 2021, 2022, what were their readings on that 1.8 kilometres that have highlighted this concern now, in the executive summary?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro:  As my colleague indicated, we will take an undertaking and we will look at it closer.

MR. QUINN:  That would be great, thank you.  Again, we might be doing double duty, so I am going to expect that we will have an undertaking in a moment.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, just having a technical problem there:  That will be undertaking JT1.19.
UNDERTAKING JT1.9:  TO PROVIDE THE READINGS IN 2021, OR AS FAR BACK AS 2020, WHEN ENBRIDGE APPLIED FOR THE ORIGINAL LEAVE TO CONSTRUCT TO REPLACE THE PIPELINE

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

In that same interrogatory attachment, and I am looking at page 21 of that section, so it says:

"The corrosion prevent group..."

Sorry -- and under the "Recommendations", thank you:

"...corrosion prevention group should investigate the recommendations provided by corrosion services to increase the current output of the rectifier systems to improve cathodic protection along the St. Laurent pipeline."

It is not referring to that 1.8 kilometres, specifically.  So I guess what I am trying to ask is are there other areas beyond that 1.8 kilometres that they are referring to in this recommendation?

MR. CHEBARO:  I would like to confer.  Just one moment, please.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro:  Mr. Quinn, to the best of our knowledge, subject to check, this recommendation has been implemented by the corrosion group.  Now whether it applies specifically for the 1.8, or for vaster areas on the line, that is something we could seek their input on.

MR. QUINN:  Seek their input?  Or what--

MR. CHEBARO:  The corrosion prevention group could advise specifically on what recommendation has been implemented, since.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you want to do that as part of the JT1.18?  Or do you want a separate undertaking for that?

MR. CHEBARO:  I believe we could take it as part of the previous one.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  I am satisfied with that if you are, Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  All good.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thanks.  Okay.  While I think this is not as important in your -- some day, I would like to understand this better.  But I heard earlier today that we have to focus on this pipeline, and that is what we are trying to do.  But, at some point, we need to understand even better.  So I will skip over that, and we will get to the project cost.

I don't think you need to turn it up, because it is in multiple places.  The example I have is in -- and as sent to IR, where the difference between a 16-inch and a 12-inch pipeline was approximately a million dollars.  Is that the understanding of Enbridge?

Okay, if you are going to from there:  attachment 1, page 11, you will find it, the fourth bullet down.  Whoa, whoa, whoa -- the fourth bullet down on that same page.  Yes, there you go.

So you are referring to the ETEE alternative, and the reduction required.  But you said to reduce the pipe size from NPS16 to 12, the cost savings is approximately a million dollars.

And it is another reserve of the evidence, but I don't -- I am not going to go through a whole bunch of references, given the time.  So that is the company's evidence?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro:  I think you are interpreting this statement correctly.  The NPS16 is roughly 3.4 percent off the St. Laurent system.  So, if we were to downsize that 3.4 percent portion of that system, from an NPS16 to an NPS12, that would result in roughly a million dollars.

MR. QUINN:  My understanding is your proposed project has 2.5 kilometres of NPS 16.  Do I have that correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  So the current system is -- as I said, the current system is at 3.4.  The new system, I believe your numbers are correct, 2.5 kilometres.  The cost here is indicative of the fact that the $1 million delta is purely obviously material cost for the difference in pipe sizing.

However, again, that was a high-level assessment conducted at the time of that presentation, which I am trying to find it here.  But I believe that was done in May 2023.

So the early days of the project, we did look at the cost of downsizing from an NPS 12/16 combo to a 12 only, and then we kept going down the sizing to see what material impacts or what cost impact it would have.  And, since the cost is driven, as I said earlier, by mostly material.  The cost is fairly insignificant --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. CHEBARO:  -- based on the NPS.

MR. QUINN:  I understand your position.  That isn't necessarily my perspective because there is the cost of handling and the cost of welding that are labour costs.  So, to help us more with data and evidence, I would like the cost estimate that underpins the difference in cost that the company is saying for between 2.5 kilometres of NPS 16 versus 2.5 kilometres of NPS 12 for this project.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  I would also like to point you to the evidence in our application.  If you go to exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1 --


MR. QUINN:  Does it have the cost-estimate breakdown between -- for 2.5 kilometres between NPS 12 and 16?

MR. MURDOCH:  It does not, but it provides a little bit more detail on --


MR. QUINN:  Well, thank you, sir, but what I am looking for is the difference for the impact of this project, which is 2.5 kilometres of NPS 16.  I would like the Board to be able to understand what the total impact is.  And you will understand more about that this afternoon, in the confidential portion of the program.  So I would like to ask for that undertaking, please.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  That is understood, but I would still just like to bring up the evidence here, just to provide a more accurate assessment.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, this is my time.  This is my time, and I have only got a limited amount of time, and I don't want is staying until 6:00 tonight.  So I am asking that you undertake to provide, for 2.5 kilometres, what the difference in costs would be that includes material, cost of paneling, all the factors that would go into it, to give the Board an understanding of the difference between NPS 12 and 16 for this project.  It is pretty straightforward.

MR. KEIZER:  I want the witness to be able to answer.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  If you go to the evidence, the cost estimate there is $1.3 million, so it is a little bit more accurate than the approximately $1 million, and we would be able to provide an undertaking to that number, to provide the details of that cost estimate.

MR. QUINN:  No, no, I am not asking for the 1.3.  I am asking for 2.5 kilometres of NPS 12 and 16.  If you end up with the same 1.3 number, that is fine, but I am asking for the 2.5 kilometres of NPS 16, which is what you are asking the Board to approve in this proceeding, and you know, and because our undertakings have asked that, could you get away with NPS 12, and we would like to have a side-by-side comparison.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  I think if we pull up the evidence, I think this would clarify a lot of your questions here and would indicate that the undertaking is providing what you are asking for.  So that would be C.1.1, page 23, paragraph 47.

MR. QUINN:  Does this have a breakdown of material?

MR. KEIZER:  If you will allow him to get to the answer, Mr. Quinn, and then, you know, you can move on at that point.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  So, here, we are talking about the cost savings associated with downsizing.  You mentioned 2.5 kilometres.  The correct number is 2.4 kilometres of NPS 16 to NPS 12, and that is the $1.3 million.  We would be able to provide a breakdown of that number.

MR. QUINN:  I am asking -- well, do it for 2.4.  Your application says 2.5 in the exhibit A, but that is just where I got that number.

So do it for 2.4 or 2.5, your choice; show us the cost breakdown between material, cost of handling, welding, labour, whatever components go into it, to provide a side-by-side comparison of the two costs.  That is what we are asking.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  That is understood.  We can provide a breakdown of the cost estimate that would be holistic to downsize the NPS 16 portion to an NPS 12 portion.

MR. QUINN:  Can we have an undertaking number, please?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We can.  Are you okay with that, then, Mr. Quinn?  It will be undertaking JT1.20.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.
UNDERTAKING JT1.20:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE COST ESTIMATE THAT WOULD BE HOLISTIC TO DOWNSIZE THE NPS 16 PORTION TO AN NPS 12 PORTION

MR. QUINN:  Because the next request we have is to provide the actual cost for the last project that I can come up with where you had both NPS 12 and 16, and that was the Leamington expansion that was approved under EB-2016-0013.  I would like to get just a comparison of the cost.  I recognize the conditions are different for the pipe installation, rural versus urban, all that kind of information, but I would like that cost comparison on the record, also, please.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think that is a relevant comparison, Mr. Quinn.  We are not going to --


MR. QUINN:  It is --


MR. KEIZER:  -- provide that.

MR. QUINN:  -- because it breaks down the difference between material and labour in a way that is very helpful to an experienced person looking at a cost estimate.  I am asking for a breakdown of cost, not just the round numbers that we see on this page.  I want -- I am looking for the material, the handling costs, the welding, all the components of that cost estimate, and then you should have the actuals from a project that was done in the last seven or eight years as a comparator.

MR. KEIZER:  They are two entirely different projects.  We have already given you the undertaking with respect to the breakdown of the 1.3, so we are not giving you the undertaking with respect to comparison between two entirely different projects, one of which happened almost 10 years ago.  So the answer would be no.

MR. QUINN:  Is there another project that you had that is more comparable, where you installed both 12- and 16-inch pipe?  I am asking the witnesses.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mr. Quinn, I think, as indicated, every project has its own specifics, and comparing projects from different eras to one another I don't think would add value to your comparison.  I think the estimate provided at the time, the 1.3, subject to check, but that came to us from -- you know, that incorporated financial estimates from the construction team and as well as referring back to the contractors.

So I think we will provide you with that breakdown as indicated, and I think that will be a good indication of the delta between the two.  I think that would be -- that is what we are prepared to offer at this point.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  I understand that is what you are prepared to offer, but I am still asking for an undertaking to provide the cost from the Leamington expansion.  Is that a refusal?

MR. STERNBERG:  It is, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We will take that up.  Okay.  I said I would try to keep it to half an hour.  I am just a little over that, but I think I will stop there, and I appreciate we will talk further, a little later this afternoon.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  We are on to Mr. Ladanyi for Energy Probe.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  You probably heard it this morning; my name is Tom Ladanyi.  Actually, I know some of you.  In fact, I may have worked with some of you in the past.  I am a consultant representing Energy Probe.

Now, in my letter of October 16th, I provided a list of interrogatories that I may be referring to in my technical conference questions.  You have seen that list I hope.  Have you?

MR. KEIZER:  They are all nodding their head "yes."

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Let the record show they nodded their heads.  In that letter, I also mentioned Energy Probe expects to support OEB approval of this project.  By the way, Energy Probe was the only intervenor that supported approval of the St. Laurent pipeline replacement project a few years ago.

So, before I go to my planned questions, I wanted to ask a few follow-up questions about cathodic protection, which you discussed with Mr. Elson this morning and now with Mr. Quinn.

So, in your response to Staff-4 -- and can we have Staff-4, by the way, up on the screen?  It is exhibit I.1-Staff-4.  If you will, scroll down, please.  Yes, right there, on top of the page.  It's right there.  You mentioned the phrase "inadequate cathodic protection."  I understand the adequacy of cathodic protection is based on pipe-to-soil voltage readings.  Is that right?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Correct.

MR. LADANYI:  I recall from my experience as a pipeline engineer that pipe-to-soil potential readings can tell you if the pipe is corroding or not at the time you take the reading.  It doesn't actually tell you what happened in the past, or what is going to happen in the future it just tells you what is happening when you take the reading?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, correct.

MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  And it can vary, the pipe to soil potential readings can vary with amount of ground water, temperature and other conditions, so it is not a constant.  So, you have to be very careful when you use those readings and what conclusions you draw.  Would that be right?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, correct.  Cathodic protection is a transient measure.

MR. LADANYI:  Right.  So, if cathodic protection induces -- cathodic protection system induces a voltage in a buried pipe, so the pipe act as a cathode with the objective of having the pipe at minus, and I understand the number is minus 850 millivolts or more, is that right?  It is actually the standard.  It has been 30 years since I have done this, so I may not remember the numbers correctly.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, subject to check, I believe the number is between 800 and 1,000.  But that is based on my recollection.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So we are in the same ball park for sure.  When you say the cathodic protection was inadequate, are you basing that on past history of these readings you might have taken from time to time, or are you basing that on the fact that you did some excavations and you found the pipe to be corroded, even though the readings were within the required range?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, Mr. Ladanyi.  I would like to confer with my colleagues, please.

Mohamed Chebaro, Mr. Ladanyi.  I will let my colleague respond in a minute, but I would like to just clarify that, just for context, that this response in Staff-4, this was in response to why Enbridge did not implement a target integrity program prior to May 2022.  So the response that we provided that you see on the screen there was to relay that the -- historically prior to the St. Laurent decision from May 2022, Enbridge relied on historical evidence when coming forward with a justification for replacement project and we were stating examples of what that could mean.  So, historical evidence could mean a leak or several repairs or tacit knowledge from operations or modelling, you know, different modelling that indicated that there was an issue.  But we also indicated that inadequate cathodic protection could be one of the drivers.  Whether that is caused by the CP itself, the current not being sufficient and the readings not being sufficient, or whether that is being caused by the CP not happening, or it is happening but because of the soil properties or the coating properties corrosion was still growing.  So, this was -- just for context this was just illustrative examples provided for the reader.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Did you want to add anything more or can I go to my next question?  I am satisfied with the answer, by the way.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari, the only thing I guess I will add here is when we are referring to cathodic protection there is, you know, regular surveys that are completed along the pipeline that would be more indicative of historical maintenance practices, and then we could also be referring to close interval potential surveys that are more detailed surveys that are completed to target integrity threats.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So, can the pipeline that shows that it has adequate cathodic protection, based on pipe to soil readings, still be corroding at parts under partially disbonded coating, so it is not disbanded it is disbonded, which is coating that is not sticking to the pipe and there is water gets underneath it.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  So, what type of coating is on the existing St. Laurent pipeline?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, it is mostly coal tar.

MR. LADANYI:  And there is obviously history of coal tar disbonding from the pipeline.  So it is coal tar, it is wrapped with paper, as I understand, that is soaked with tar and it can, over time, disbond from the pipeline; can't it?

MR. CHEBARO:  Just a minute.  I would like to confer with my colleagues, sorry.

Mohamed Chebaro, yes.  So, 87 percent coal tar is the extent of the coal tar on the line, and to your question:  Yes, that could happen.

MR. LADANYI:  So, that could certainly happened for a pipeline that was -- I think this was laid in 1959 to 1960 or so; is that right?

MR. CHEBARO:  Yes, 82 percent of the line was installed before 1962.  Mostly in 1958 and '59.  And all the coating on the coal tar was field applied.

MR. LADANYI:  So, at that time that coating was considered to be, let's say, high tech but it wouldn't be now.  Nobody does that anymore now; is that right?

MR. CHEBARO:  Absolutely.

MR. LADANYI:  So, would you agree with me that the best protection against corrosion is good coating?

MR. CHEBARO:  I believe coating plays a big role in the protection against corrosion.  It plays a very big role, but there are other methods and barriers that we could also use in conjunction with coating to further minimize the probability of coating -- of corrosion happening on the pipeline.

MR. LADANYI:  So, what type of coating would -- well, the replacement pipeline have if you are permitted to build it?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mr. Ladanyi, we are just finding the information.  Just bear with us for a minute, please.  It would be double fusion bonded epoxy, so DFB.

MR. LADANYI:  Do I understand from, again, from my understanding of this industry, this is the latest technology as far as pipe coating is concerned.  That's the best coating you could get; would that be right?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, that is definitely one of the better coatings you could get today yes.

MR. LADANYI:  So, I understand that there two are methods of cathodic protection one is to bury sacrificial anodes near the pipe, and the other is to impress a current near the pipe from a rectifier.  So, and I think it was mentioned in some of the interrogatory responses that there are rectifiers.  Is there also buried anodes on the line, as well?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, yes.  So, 96 percent of the line is cathodically protected through rectifiers and 4 percent through anodes.

MR. LADANYI:  Is one of the problems with cathodic protection in urban area, like the location of the St. Laurent pipeline, that if you increase the current in a rectifier to very high amount you might cause corrosion of nearby structures such as bridges, reinforced concrete, rebars and so on and, for example, buried water lines.  So, you have to be careful in urban area because you might end up causing, let's say, the water mains in Ottawa to become anodes to their pipeline and cause them to corrode.  Is that one of the issues that you really can't go over board here, you have to be very careful what you do; is that right?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, correct.

MR. LADANYI:  These are all my questions on corrosion.  Now can we turn to another area.  Could you please turn to School Energy Coalition number 6?  So, this is exhibit I.1, SEC 6.  And I think that it was touched on this morning, as well.

And you were asked there to explain how the proposed project is going to improve reliability related to third-party damage.  And again, I am not going to read your response, in general, but I will read a little bit of it.  It says:
"Material testing on pipe samples from SLP has shown that the pipeline has low material toughness, i.e., low-measured Charpy V-notch toughness, averaging less than 10J...", or 10 joules, 
"from five tests on pipe.  In contrast, the proposed pipeline will be constructed using modern steel, which offers significantly higher toughness, often exhibiting Charpy toughness well in excess of 100 J", 100 joules.

And the Charpy V-notch test on CVN measures fracture toughness of steel in units of energy.  Is that right?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, that is correct.

MR. LADANYI:  So I should disclose here that I -- my University of Toronto Applied Science Master's thesis was on fracture toughness of forgings.  And I performed many Charpy fracture toughness tests when I was there.

I also later on represented TransCanada Pipelines on the CSA pipeline fracture toughness task group, from 1979 to 1981 that developed the toughness standards for gas and oil pipelines.  And it was incorporated into the CSA standard, Z184.  And that standard has been replaced by a standard, CSA standard, Z662.  Is that right?

MR. CHEBARO:  I believe it was, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  So steel pipe with a 10J Charpy V-notch toughness, would it meet the CSA standard Z662, for pipe?

MR. SAFARI:  Subject to check, it would not.

MR. LADANYI:  That is right.  So I recall again -- this is from maybe more than 30 years ago now -- that the standard we established was 20J, as the minimum.  So this is -- this pipe would actually be, not be -- would not meet the standards.  Essentially, it is a pipe that is outside code, and you are allowed to operate it under certain conditions.  But definitely, there is a risk.

So is it possible that if this pipe is hit by a backhoe, that it might actually break?

MR. CHEBARO:  It is very likely, based on the Charpy V-notch that we have measured and the low toughness on the line -- Mohamed Chebaro.

MR. LADANYI:  And the idea of the 20 joules' requirement is that a pipe would be hit -- if it is hit by a backhoe, it would just dent.  It would not -- a backhoe normally would not be able to penetrate the pipe.  So that is the objective.

This is how you understand it?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Our assessment of the failure takes into account both puncture and gouge-and-dent failure modes.  My understanding is both of those are impacted by Charpy toughness, but that is subject to check.

MR. LADANYI:  So a new pipe which you mentioned that has toughness in excess of 100J would be much safer and much more reliable?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Yes, correct, Mr. Ladanyi.  In addition to -- so the two factors that would make the pipeline from a third-party damage more reliable are, one, the increased -- among many factors, but one, the increased toughness.  And then, two, the increased wall thickness, not to mention the lower depth of cover, which would reduce the probability of a hit.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.

So now, can we turn to FRPO No. 3?

MR. CHEBARO:  Sorry, I just want to correct the record.

MR. LADANYI:  Please.

MR. CHEBARO:  I said less depth of cover; I meant more depth of cover, and --


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  I understood there to be more, also.

So you can turn to FRPO-3.  And, in that exhibit, FRPO asks you to describe the pressure elevation process that was completed in 1985.  And, in your answer, you mention compression couplings.  Are there still compression couplings anywhere on this line, or laterals from it?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I am just going to confer with my panellists.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  In Exhibit I.1, PP 6, attachment 1, page 21, there is a figure 6 that is a map of the restrained compression couplings that have been found to date.  There is a total of seven on the St. Laurent asset.

However, I would like to qualify that by we don't know if there are other compression couplings that are not indicated in the record since, as mentioned, the records go back to the 1950s and early 1960s.  So those are the ones we know of and have been restrained.  But there may be others that we are unaware of.

And yes, I repeat:  Exhibit I.1, PP 6, figure 6.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Sorry, I missed that.  So compression couplings are no longer permitted by the code, Z662.  Is that right?

MR. CHEBARO:  I would like to confer for a second.

Mr. Ladanyi, we are going to take a couple of moments to validate that.  We want to make sure we give you the right answer.  So, if you can move on, maybe to the next question, we can get back --


MR. LADANYI:  Certainly, certainly.  I didn't think anything was that important, but I think one of the issues with compression couplings, and you can confirm that with me, is they are a source, a potential source of corrosion.  And also, they can actually detach, although that is rare; it is the corrosion is the main problem with them.  Would that be right?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro:  Compression couplings offer or present a lot of challenges.  Corrosion is one of them, loss of containment is another.

But also, we also have been experiencing some concerns with compression couplings when it comes to in-line inspection picks or in-line inspections tools because we, you know, as the tool goes through the line, you want to make sure that the thrust that is created does not cause a separation of the coupling, especially when the couplings date to the 1950s or 1960s or early 1970s.

MR. LADANYI:  That's right; you don't want to destroy your own pipeline.

Very well, you can think about the Z662 or, if you want to have an Undertaking, that is fine, too.  But it is not a complicated question.  The point I wanted to make is that is another reason why the pipeline should be Replaced, is to bring it up to code.

Anyway, can you turn to Pollution Probe No. 2?  So, at a high level, am I right in concluding that the existing pipeline does not meet current CSA standards?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Just a moment while we confer.

[Witness panel confer]


MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Mr. Ladanyi, the pipeline today, based on current codes, would not be designed the way it is, for sure.  And I will add to that that, upon our evaluation through the quantitative risk assessment that was conducted, the pipeline does fail annex O reliability targets for lower limit states and ultimate limit states for corrosion, third-party damage, among other threats.  So, if you were to apply annex O, which is a current annex from Z662 to the current installation, the pipeline today would not meet the reliability targets of that standard.

MR. LADANYI:  So, based on that conclusion from the quantitative risk assessment, Enbridge has to do something; management of Enbridge cannot ignore this now that it has this information.  Management has the responsibilities to make sure that this pipeline is safe, and that is what you are doing.  You can't wait anymore.  You have to do something.  Would that be a right conclusion?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Yes, it is, sir.  As we have indicated in many of our responses, we don't run our assets to failure at Enbridge, and any of the possible significant consequences from failure of a pipeline are unacceptable and must be mitigated.  That is in line with our company value of safety, but that is also in line with the Professional Engineers of Ontario code of ethics that requires us, as professional engineers, to have a clearly defined view to society, which is to regard the duty to public welfare as paramount.  So we are, as professional engineers, honouring that duty.

That is not to mention the fact that the TSSA has indicated that the risk on the St. Laurent pipeline now needs to be properly managed by Enbridge to remain compliant with CSA Z662.  So, no matter how you look at this issue, we strongly believe that immediate action is required for safety and reliability reasons.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, and, by the way, that is a very good answer.  I am glad you brought in the professional engineer's duties.  I am a professional engineer myself, so I am well aware of that.

Would you agree with me that it is not an issue of picking, in this particular case, the lowest cost solution; you have to pick one that gives you the proper amount and the right amount of reliability and safety?  Would that be right?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Could you turn to Staff-11, exhibit I.1-Staff-11, and keep going down.  And here, in the part B, you explain -- so you discuss what you have to do, what you would have to do, if the OEB does not approve this project.  And, in part 4, right there in the middle of the page, you explain the impact on 52,000 customers served by the line if you had to reduce the operating pressure.  And you mention federal government buildings, and I understand you are not allowed to identify specific customers, but I hope you will we able to, for example, answer a few simple questions.  Let me start with one.

Does this line supply gas to the centennial flame on Parliament Hill?

Before you answer that, in the sentence, the centennial flame actually is supplied with biogas.  Does the biogas get to the centennial flame using this line.

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  Subject to check, yes, I believe it does, as it is connected to the distribution system in the downtown Ottawa area.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  It also mentions in here it mentions foreign government buildings.  Are those foreign embassies?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  Yes, they could include foreign embassies.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, from my knowledge of Ottawa, I think that this line delivers gas to the British High Commission, the Russian Embassy, the U.S. Embassy, and possibly others.  Is it possible the shutting of gas to these embassies could be embarrassing for Canada and maybe misinterpreted as a political act?

I don't want to put you on the spot.  If you would rather not answer that, that is fine.

MR. KEIZER:  Oh, you know what, sorry, I think I might have turned my video on but not my microphone.

So my comment was that that question with respect to political interests or otherwise I think is probably outside the scope of these witnesses, but it is something that may be entertained in argument.

MR. LADANYI:  Mr. Keizer, would you like to provide an undertaking response?  Or I can just drop it.  It is not vital.

MR. KEIZER:  Probably not at this time.  I think it is something we can deal with in submissions.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  Thank you.  Now, let's go to my last interrogatory, you will be happy to know, and it is EP-5.  It is exhibit I.2-EP-5, Energy Probe-5.

Now, some parties may argue that the pipeline is not needed because Enbridge customers are or will soon be converting from natural gas heating to electric heating.  My client, Energy Probe believes this is not happening to any significant degree; it is unlikely to happen to a large degree or for many years, if ever.

Now, in answer to part A, you confirmed that only 335 customers in the City of Ottawa have had their gas metre removed since 2020.  So how many customers do you have in the City of Ottawa?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  I actually don't have that number on hand at this moment, but many.

MR. LADANYI:  "Many."  I think I recall like 190,000, but maybe I could be wrong there.  So do you want to take an undertaking on that?  Because I think that would be a good number to have for argument.

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  Yes, I will take that undertaking.  Just to clarify, it is to provide the number of customers in the Ottawa area?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, and also can you also tell me how many customers has Enbridge added in the City of Ottawa since 2020?  So we know 335 have dropped off.  How many have you added since 2020?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  I don't have that number at my fingertips, but we could take an undertaking to provide that.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, could you add that to it, please?  I see that Mr. Sidlofsky has his screen on.  Could we have an undertaking number?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  That will be JT1.21.
UNDERTAKING JT1.21:  TO ADVISE THE NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS IN THE OTTAWA AREA AND THE NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS ADDED SINCE 2020


MR. LADANYI:  JT1.21.  As I understand the home heating market, many residential customers who have opted to install a heat pump have retained their gas furnace and gas water heather and gas stove; they use their gas furnace on cold days in the winter.  On a peak winter day, would they use as much gas as they did before the installed the heat pump, all else being equal?  Now, they could have installed more insulation, but, in general, on a peak winter day, for example on January 15th, and they have all got their gas furnaces running, not the heat pump, would they be using the same amount of gas as they did before they installed the heat pump?

MR. WOOD:  Cody Wood.  In the circumstance where both the heat pump and a furnace remain in the home, it is likely that the heating demand would be provided by the furnace, so it is also likely that it would have the same peak demand.

MR. LADANYI:  And Ottawa is a cold place, much colder than Toronto, as we know.  Actually, I lived there for a little while.  So this pipeline will be needed, even if many customers install heat pumps; this pipeline will be needed for many years.  Would you agree with me?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  I would agree.  I would also add also, due to the nature of the pipeline, this pipeline is not one that serves a lot of customers directly, but in turn feeds subsystems, networks where the vast majority of our customers are connect to and fed.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Thank you, Panel.  These are all my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  At this point we will move on to --


MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Sidlofsky, can I just ask a quick clarification?  It is Mr. Brophy here.  Mr. Ladanyi just got an undertaking related to customer additions.  And I think it was in Ottawa.  Can I just clarify, was that related to this specific pipeline that are getting gas from St. Laurent pipeline, or unrelated to that?  It is two different things and I just want to make sure we are not duplicating anything tomorrow.

MR. LADANYI:  Can I clarify?  My question was to the entire City of Ottawa.  Because the answer given was only 335 customers in the City of Ottawa, so I am trying to compare how many customers in the entire city have left the system, and how many have been added.  And my argument bill be, just for you, it is going to be the number of additions was far larger than 335 but let's see what the numbers are.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you, that clarification is helpful.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  That leaves with us, well, first of all with School Energy Coalition moving to tomorrow this puts us into the confidential section of today's session.  Excuse me.  Mr. Quinn, you have got 90 minutes set aside for that.  We just resumed just before 2:00, so my thought would be to close the public session, start into the confidential session, and then we can take an afternoon break maybe at about 3:45.  Would that be okay?

MR. QUINN:  3:45?  Sorry.  At 3:45?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  I am going to ask that we move out to a breakout room.  We may need about 5 minutes for that, just to confirm that anyone in the room has signed the board's confidentiality undertaking.  Mr. Johnson, will you be doing that?  Or is that me?

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, I was on mute.  Yes, I am opening up the breakout for EGI right now, and then there will be two different rooms.  One for the regular people, including us, and then EGI is going to be in one.  And then after, I think, the five minutes is up they can rejoin as necessary.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Well, we won't be joining the public room.  I think the idea is to keep us in a breakout room so that we can control all access.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  I will get Astris to help with that.  One second.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MS. SQUIRES:  Can I just clarify -- sorry, Pat Squires from Enbridge Gas.  I just want to clarify, we have one of our internal counsel, Guri Pannu, who is not in the room with us.  And he should be able to join the breakout room as well.  I just wanted to make sure he wasn't forgotten.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure.  That will we fine.  Maybe we can take about 5 minutes, go off the record about 5 minutes, and just make sure we set ourselves up here.

MS. SQUIRES:  Thank you.
--- On commencing in camera at 3:32 p.m.
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--- On resuming in public at 4:55 p.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will start up again at 9:30 tomorrow morning.  We will start with CAFES Ottawa, followed by Pollution Probe.  So, Michael Brophy, you are okay to begin at 9:30 tomorrow.

MR. QUINN:  You are frozen there, Mike.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, sorry.  I am not far from mid-town, like you, but somehow Internet seems to be freezing in my area.  So just a quick question:  So you said, obviously, CAFES, the schedule will come out shortly I am hoping, anyway.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, we will by sending it around very shortly.  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, and then I have got the letter written.  It is going to be, I think, only 10 minutes.  We will be moving to the firm panel, the future one to be set.  So I think that actually doesn't change our time for tomorrow because they had missed the estimate by 10 minutes on Pollution Probe, so that letter will go in probably in the next 5 to 10 minutes, and then -- so I think, the schedule, if you use the timing you had, that should be fine and then you add the 10 minutes, that will go towards the future panel that hasn't been set up yet.

So I will take a look at that when it comes out from, I guess, Antonio or whoever.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Antonio will be sending it round.  I think we will probably send it before we make that adjustment for you --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- just so people have a general sense of timing for the day.  But we will start up again at 9:30 tomorrow.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, sorry.  Maybe, if we are off the record, I thought someone had told me I was supposed to go first.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, I will take us off the record.  Maybe we can have that discussion offline, so stay in the room, but I am going to ask our reporter to stop the transcript.
--- Whereupon the proceeding adjourned at 4:57 p.m.
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